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(millions of Euro) 2011 2010

Revenue 710 789

Operating profit / EBIT 49 136

Net profit 22 125

Net cash (106) 50

Investments (fleet) 147 158

2010 2011
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Group structure

d’Amico Società di Navigazione SpA
Italy

d’Amico International S.A. 
Luxembourg

99.99%

100.00% d’Amico Shipping
Italia SpA

Italy

60.00% Sirius Ship 
Management Srl 

Italy

1.00%

d’Amico Ship Ishima
India Pvt Ltd

India

99.00%

58.02% Compagnia Generale
Telemar SpA

Italy

51.00% MIDA Maritime
Company Ltd 

Ireland

100.00% d’Amico Dry Ltd
Ireland

100.00% d’Amico Shipping 
UK Ltd 

UK

70.00%
Damighreb S.à.r.l. 

Morocco

100.00% Ishima Pte Ltd 
Singapore

100.00% Global Maritime 
Supplies Pte Ltd

Singapore

50.00% Cambiaso Risso Asia 
Pte Ltd 

Singapore

50.00%
ACGI Shipping Pte Ltd 

Singapore

50.00%

85.00% Rudder S.A.M. 
Monaco

100.00% Rudder Pte Ltd
Singapore

100.00% d’Amico Shipping
Singapore Pte Ltd 

Singapore

100.00%
d’Amico Ireland Ltd 

Ireland

96.00% COGEMA S.A.M. 
Monaco

100.00% Anglo Canadian
Shipping Ltd

Canada

100.00% ACGI Shipping Inc.
Canada

100.00%
d’Amico Finance Ltd 

Ireland

100.00% Hanford 
Investments Inc

Liberia

100.00% St. Andrew Estates Ltd
Liberia

99.83% Saemar S.A.
Spain

100.00% Medbulk Maritime Ltd
Ireland

99.70% COMARFIN S.A.M. 
Monaco

100.00% d’Amico Shipping USA
Limited

USA
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Holding company

Shipping company

Service company

Finance company

Real-estate company

Telecommunications company

d’Amico International Shipping S.A.  
Luxembourg

50.00% Glenda International 
Shipping Ltd 

Ireland

100.00% d’Amico 
Tankers Ltd 

Ireland

99.98% d’Amico Tankers 
Monaco S.A.M. 

Monaco

100.00% d’Amico Tankers 
UK Ltd 

UK

100.00% d’Amico Tankers 
Singapore Pte Ltd 

Singapore

100.00% High Pool Tankers Ltd 
Ireland 

100.00% Glenda International
Management Ltd

Ireland 

100.00% VPC Logistic Ltd 
UK

51.00% DM Shipping Ltd 
Ireland

65.66%
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d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. (‘DSN’) is the
holding company for a leading global shipping group
(hereinafter the ‘Group’) with operations in dry cargo and
container ships, tankers and auxiliary maritime services.
The Group boasts a long and storied tradition as a family
business founded in 1936 and has developed a
worldwide presence over the years with offices in the
most important maritime mercantile centres. Its indirect

subsidiary d’Amico International Shipping S.A. (‘DIS’), a
sub-holding company with global shipping operations,
specialized in the tanker sector, is listed on the screen-
based market organized and managed by Borsa Italiana
S.p.A. Experience, competence and responsibility, in
addition to a strong focus on the client, operational safety
and protection of the environment, are the d'Amico
Group's core values.

d’Amico Società di Navigazione Group
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Business Areas
Dry cargo and container ships
The Group operates in the dry-cargo sector of the
shipping market through d’Amico Dry Limited and
d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. (‘DSI’). The fleet, a detailed
list of which is presented as an annex to this report,
comprises both owned ships and ships on long-term
charters. In order to satisfy flexibility needs and seize the
opportunities presented by the dry-cargo market, the
d'Amico Group also uses ships on short-term charter that
do not represent an integral part of its fleet. In further
detail, the Group operates in the following segments:
Handysize (from 32,000 DWT to 37,000 DWT), Supramax
(from 52,000 DWT to 58,000 DWT) and Panamax (from
74,000 DWT to 83,000 DWT). The composition of the fleet
of dry-cargo ships was as follows as at 31 December 2011:

During 2011, d’Amico Dry Limited operated an average
of approximately 45.9 vessels (42% of which were on
short-term charter), while d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A.
operated an average of approximately 8.7 vessels
(approximately 8% of which were on short-term
charter).

In addition to the coal sector, in which the Group boasts
longstanding experience, the segments of the shipping
market in which the Group operates globally include
bulk cargo generally, such as iron ore and other
commodities, with its clients among the leaders of their
respective industries. Reliability, flexibility and strong
long-term relationships are the competitive advantages
that the d'Amico Group has established in the dry-cargo
business.

The dry-cargo sector also includes the shipping of forest
products from pacific North America to various
Mediterranean ports under both long-term contracts
with the major forest-product producers and voyage-
based contracts that allow the Group to seize the short-
term opportunities presented by the market. 

The vessels in the d'Amico fleet are employed directly: a
significant portion is hired under ‘time-charter’
(medium/long-term) contracts, while the remainder is
chartered on a ‘per-voyage’ basis (known as the ‘spot’
market).

In 2011 Damighreb S.à.r.l. (based in Morocco)
continued its cargo shipping operations through the
use of two container ships in the Mediterranean area.
Since November 2011 it has completely discontinued
its liner container operations (cargo shipping between
Morocco, Spain and Tunisia) and has instead
consolidated feeder service between Moroccan and
other Mediterranean ports, along with container traffic
services between Spain and Algeria.

Tankers
The Group's tankers sector is entrusted to d'Amico
International Shipping SA (“DIS”), which, mainly
through its subsidiary d'Amico Tankers Limited, based
in Ireland, operates a fleet with an average age of
approximately 5.9 years, comprising double-hull vessels
with load capacities of 35,000 to 51,000 DWT (Handysize
and medium-range product tankers), chiefly employed in
shipping refined petroleum products, providing shipping
services on a global scale to leading oil and trading
companies. In addition, all vessels have been constructed
in accordance with IMO (International Maritime
Organization) and MARPOL (the International Convention
for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships) regulations, the
requirements set by the major oil and energy companies
and international standards. Pursuant to MARPOL/IMO
regulations, cargoes such as palm oil, vegetable oil and a
range of other chemical products may only be
transported by tankers that meet specific requirements
(‘IMO-classed’ vessels). As at 31 December 2011, 71% of
the vessels in the DIS group fleet were IMO-classed,
allowing the Group to transport a wide range of products.
As at the same date, the fleet of tankers operated by DIS
included 35 vessels, as shown in the following table:

As at 31 December 2011
Handysize Supramax Panamax Total

Owned 6.0 6.0 8.0 20.0
Chartered 5.0 5.0 4.0 14.0
TOTAL 11.0 11.0 12.0 34.0

As at 31 December 2011
MR Handysize Total

Owned 16.0 3.0 19.0
Chartered 13.0 3.0 16.0
Chartered in pool arrangements - - -
TOTAL 29.0 6.0 35.0
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To a residual extent, d’Amico Società di Navigazione also
operates in the tanker sector through DSI, which as at
31 December 2011 was a party to a bareboat charter
contract with a third party for a Handysize tanker that
was employed directly on the market.

A complete list of the fleet of tankers is presented in an
annex to this report.

Use of the fleet and partnerships

As at 31 December 2011, d’Amico International Shipping
employed 20.5 vessels directly: 8.5 MR (‘Medium-Range’)
and one Handysize vessel under long-term charter
contracts with major oil and trading companies, with six
MR and five Handysize vessels currently employed on
the spot market. The Group employs a considerable
share of its vessels under the following partnership
arrangements:

• High Pool Tankers – a pool arrangement with Nissho
Shipping Co. Limited (Japan) that as at 31 December
2011 operated 11 MR tankers and also involved the
participation of Mitsubishi Corporation;

• GLENDA – a pool arrangement entered into with
Glencore/ST Shipping to operate vessels under a
single commercial brand, GLENDA. Following the
reorganization of the pool in the second half of 2011,
at the end of 2011 GLENDA International
Management Limited managed 11 MR tankers. In
2012 the number of vessels managed by the pool is
expected to decrease further.

In addition to consortium and commercial
arrangements, DIS has formed two joint ventures with
important strategic partners: DM Shipping Ltd. with the
Mitsubishi Group, which owns two MR vessels delivered
in 2009, and GLENDA International Shipping with the
Glencore Group, which currently owns six vessels
delivered from August 2009 to February 2011.

Maritime services
This segment comprises the provision of auxiliary
services for shipping operations. The services rendered
benefit not only the d'Amico fleet, but also international
clients, and comprise in particular ship management,
maritime telecommunications services, insurance
brokerage and intermediation in ship fuel purchases
(‘bunkering’).

Ship management services constitute one of the main
lines of business of the Parent Company, d’Amico
Società di Navigazione S.p.A., which, along with its
subsidiaries, and Ishima Pte Limited (‘ISHIMA’) in
particular, renders certain services to Group companies
and third parties, including:
• technical management (supervision of construction

and maintenance projects);
• planning, procurement and management of

planned maintenance (‘PM’);
• crew management (selection, recruitment and

management of the compensation of maritime
personnel);

• management of quality, safety and environmental
protection systems;

• management of onboard information technology
systems; and

• management of legal and insurance issues.

Maritime telecommunications services are entrusted to
Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A. (‘TELEMAR’), a
global leader in the sector. Such activities include the
provision of electronic and satellite communications
and navigation systems and support for those systems,
as well as the sale of radiotelegraphic traffic. Telemar,
which operates through subsidiaries in ten countries, is
a strategic partner and agent for the major producers of
telecommunications systems and boasts unparalleled
expertise in support services for transport and cruise
vessels.

Bunkering operations are conducted by Rudder SAM
(‘RUDDER’) and bunkering services are rendered to
both Group companies and third parties. The process
begins with constant monitoring of the reliability of
traders operating in the sector and is founded on
longstanding relationships with the oil majors. The
purpose of this arrangement is to ensure the quality of
the product and delivery to vessels.



Financial and real-estate investments
In parallel with its investments in shipping and auxiliary
services, the d’Amico Group, and in particular the
Parent Company, d’Amico Società di Navigazione
S.p.A., along with its sub-holding company d’Amico
International S.A. (Luxembourg), have a significant
presence in the financial investments sector. This line
of business, in addition to the short-/medium-term
management of available financial resources, also
includes the acquisition of qualified equity
investments of a strategic nature in financial and
industrial companies with a view towards
diversification and from a long-term perspective. Such
activities include, inter alia, the investments in:

• ClubTre S.r.l. – the owners of which include Tamburi
Investment Partners S.p.A., which holds a 35%
interest, and Angelini Partecipazioni Finanziarie S.r.l.
and d'Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A., each of
which holds a 32.5% interest. As at 31 December
2011, d'Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. had
invested a total of Euro 39.0 million. ClubTre S.r.l.
holds an interest of more than 6% in Prysmian
S.p.A., a global leader in cabling and high-tech
systems for energy transmission and
telecommunications;

• Venice Shipping & Logistic S.p.A. – a company whose
main shareholders as at 31 December 2011 were
Palladio Finanziaria S.p.A. (56.58%), d'Amico Società
di Navigazione S.p.A. (28.26%) and Vega Finanziaria
S.p.A. (14.16%). The company was incorporated in
September 2009 and primarily engages in
investment transactions in the shipping and
shipping logistics sectors; 

• Tamburi Investment Partners S.p.A. - an independent
merchant bank listed on the Milan Stock Exchange
and focused on medium-sized Italian companies.
The equity interest came to 10.38% as at 31
December 2011; and 

• Datalogic S.p.A., listed on the Milan Stock Exchange,
is one of the world's leading producers of bar-code
readers, mobile computers for data collection, RFID
systems and automatic viewing systems and offers
solutions for applications in manufacturing,
transport, logistics and retail. The equity interest
came to 2.38% as at 31 December 2011.

In June 2011 the Parent Company undertook an
important investment in the real-estate sector
involving the purchase of a 6,000 m² property located
in the historical centre of Rome (Via Paisiello). The
investment came to a total of Euro 58.6 million, with
Euro 35 million financed by long-term bank
borrowings (set to mature to 2026).

2011 Annual Report | 11
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As at 31 December 2011, the d’Amico Group
employed a workforce of 980 seagoing personnel and
583 onshore personnel.

The Group dedicates special attention to the
management of its human resources as a key factor in
exploiting a distinctive competitive advantage. The
development and consolidation of HR management
policies and procedures (recruiting, training,
performance analysis and reward systems) constantly
steer company decisions towards the creation of a
motivating workplace that engages resources, a factor
that affects the organizational climate, and therefore
the company’s results. Further development of work-
life balance policies allows the Group to respond
actively to its employees' needs, even in areas that not
directly related to, yet indirectly impact, their working
lives.

The business environment creates opportunities, yet
also entails significant challenges for the d’Amico
Group. Such circumstances require an active response
involving constant updates to the human resource
management plan. 

Crewing in particular represents one of the key
elements in the safe and efficient use of the fleet. The
crewing policy implemented by the Group, which
boasts more than 75 years of experience in the sector,
aims to promote onboard safety and environmental
protection, while also maintaining conditions of crew
efficiency and reliability. The d'Amico Group achieves
these objectives on the basis of three pillars: a
meticulous selection process, thorough training and
a permanent monitoring and assessment system. 

Access to highly qualified personnel also requires an
effective recruitment programme. In order to meet
these needs fully, the Group has developed a
personnel selection strategy that has resulted in the
implementation of initiatives such as the
consolidation of a base of operations on the Indian
market located in Mumbai. The Indian market has an
established track record as a provider of quality
English-speaking crew. The Group also has
representation in Manila with the aim of ensuring
access to the important Philippine market.  

Competitive challenges constantly require
productivity gains and the development of know-
how. Accordingly, the d’Amico Group invests in

people in order to create exclusive drivers of success
and adopts people-management tools with a view
towards honing professional skills, retaining
employees and developing talent and ‘critical’
resources (i.e., persons with skills that have the
greatest impact on core processes).

To this end, with respect to ground staff in particular,
the Group has implemented reward systems that
target individual performance and compensation
policies aimed at fostering an effective pay-for-
performance system. 

The Group continues to attach great importance to its
commitment to training and establishing professional
growth and development processes for both onshore
and seagoing personnel. Through an appropriate
training programme, the Group ensures that the
crews employed on its vessels meet the high
standards of professionalism essential to their duties.
In this respect, it organizes a rigorous training
programme both ashore and onboard vessels. In
addition, the Group pursues a policy of collaboration
with various naval education institutions with the aim
of increasing awareness of safety and environmental
issues, key priorities for d'Amico. As part of initiatives
aimed at supporting educational institutions, DSN,
along with other important Italian institutional
partners, has established an advanced technical
education school, ITS Fondazione G. Caboto, for
training specialized technical staff that offers two-year
post-secondary training courses intended for persons
interested in embarking upon an international career
in the naval sector. Courses, which are divided into
one year of theoretical study and one year of hands-
on training, aim to provide an excellent technical
background, allowing pupils to expand their
knowledge of d'Amico's organizational structure,
policies, expertise and vision in order to facilitate their
hiring as the Company's seagoing or onshore
personnel.

The Group has launched an organizational
development initiative focused on emphasizing and
disseminating its values with the involvement of
management. 

From the standpoint of training and the definition of
professional growth and development processes for
staff with the potential to assume roles of managerial
responsibility, follow-up programmes to the

Organization and Human Resources
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development centre implemented in 2010 have been
created. Lastly, the Group has continued and
consolidated its efforts in the area of internal

communications initiatives aimed at reinforcing
information and ensuring the entire population's
involvement in company life.
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Ship Management
Compliance with international standards
All vessels in the d'Amico fleet are subject to constant
monitoring in order to ensure that they comply with
IMO (International Maritime Organization) regulations,
MARPOL (the International Convention for the
Prevention of Pollution from Ships) and the other
international standards applicable to the industry. In
further detail, each year tankers are required to pass
the following examinations conducted by external
entities and/or clients:

• inspection and monitoring of compliance with
MARPOL standards by the flag state;

• port-state controls, which are inspections of foreign
ships to verify that the conditions of the vessel and
its equipment comply with the requirements of
international conventions and that the vessel is
manned and operated in accordance with those
rules;

• flag state controls in the country where a ship is
registered; and

• vetting inspections by major oil and energy
companies such as ExxonMobil, Shell, Total,
Glencore, Petrobras, Vitol and Vela, which are some
of the Group's established clients.

In order to ensure that its vessels comply with industry
standards and regulations, the d'Amico Group has
developed and adopted a strict environmental analysis
system that involves identifying vessel activities which
may have an effect on the environment (water, air and
other elements) and then analyzing which of those
interactions might have a significant impact. The IMO
(Inter-Governmental Maritime Organization) is a
specialized agency of the United Nations founded in
the United Kingdom in 1958 with a specific task:
creating and updating a comprehensive regulatory
framework of international conventions and
recommendations governing every facet of marine
shipping, such as safety, environmental and legal
concerns, technical co-operation, maritime security
and the efficiency of marine transport. These include
the MARPOL convention and STCW convention on
standards of training for seafarers. MARPOL 73/78 is an
international frame convention for the prevention of
pollution from ships (‘Marpol’ stands for marine
pollution and ‘73/78’ refers to the years 1973 and 1978),
the purpose of which is to preserve the marine
ecosystem through the complete elimination of
pollution by oil and other harmful substances (e.g.,
gasoline, jet fuel, kerosene and naphtha). It comprises
six annexes, each of which is concerned with

preventing a specific form of marine pollution from
ships.

Pursuant to specific contracts with various Group
companies, the technical management of the vessels
comprising the fleet is entrusted to d’Amico Società di
Navigazione S.p.A. and, to a lesser extent, Ishima Pte
Limited. DSN also provides support in the area of
maritime insurance for the fleet and coordinates the
Tanker Management and Self-Assessment Programme
(TMSA) launched in 2004 by OCIMF (Oil Companies
International Marine Forum), in addition to the Safety
Quality and Environment (SQE) Management System.
Onboard and environmental safety represent top
priorities for the Group.

Ship management, coordinated by DSN with the
collaboration and supervision of its operating
subsidiaries, includes general maintenance-related
issues, with the aim of ensuring compliance with
applicable naval regulations and classification
requirements, while also satisfying the requirements of
the vetting procedures applied by the major oil
companies. This goal is achieved by supervising
maintenance services, promoting vessel efficiency,
planning and supervising dry-dock work, purchasing
onboard supplies and spare parts and appointing
advisors and technical supervisors. 

Ship management is based on an integrated SQE
(Safety, Quality and Environment) system applied
without distinction onboard the Group's vessels and
in its offices. This system is compliant with the
international standards ISO 9001:2008 and ISO
14001:2004, established by the International
Organisation for Standardisation, and was certified by
the international classification society RINA S.p.A.
(Registro Italiano Navale) in 2003. 

This system was further integrated with the
management of Occupational Health and Safety in
accordance with standard BSOHSAS 18001:2007,
initially applied only to offices and ships flying the
Italian flag and then extended to the entire fleet under
management in 2011. The policies and procedures
implemented onboard its vessels allow the Group to
maintain a high standard of operation with a strong
emphasis on the safety of all activities performed, the
potential environmental impact of its operations and
maximum client satisfaction. In order to ensure that
offices and vessels closely adhere to the established
requirements and to reduce the risk of accidents and
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environmental impacts to a minimum, the system also
calls for systematic periodic controls. The d'Amico
Group’s sensitivity to these issues, clearly articulated in
the Company's mission and vision statement, also
implies careful selection and thorough oversight of
external suppliers and services.

The management method adopted, which relies on a
process-based approach to organize all activities
performed in a clear manner, with points of control,
performance measurements, analysis of critical issues
and measures for improvement, also allows the
d'Amico Group to rank in the upper segment of  ‘TMSA’,
the ‘Tanker Management and Self-Assessment
Programme’ launched in 2004 by OCIMF (Oil
Companies International Marine Forum). While not
compulsory, TMSA is recommended by the major oil
companies in order to encourage shippers to measure,
assess and improve their performances on the basis of
certain key indicators. Satisfaction of this programme's
requirements often represents the basis for developing
agreements of a commercial nature, but also drives the
pursuit and maintenance of higher safety levels, the
prevention of pollution and a drastic reduction in the
risk of accidents. 

The Group is committed to involving all personnel in
achieving the goals it has set for itself by establishing
specific training processes, encouraging staff to
participate in changes, providing motivation,
identifying and disseminating best operating practices
and assessing risks in order to create a shared body of
practical, cultural knowledge that identifies they key
elements to quality and safety. In this area, the Group
has also developed programmes for controlling and
measuring the performances of various operating
segments, which are analyzed on a half-yearly basis
with the aim of achieving constant improvement.
Particular emphasis has been placed on identifying
and managing those factors that have or may have a
significant impact on the environment in order to
minimize the associated risk and, in particular, to seek
to reduce polluting emissions. In further detail, a
specific energy efficiency plan for each vessel, the Ship
Energy Efficiency Management Plan (SEEMP), has been
prepared and is set to be implemented in 2012. Such
plans aim to apply technical solutions and operating
procedures to reduce consumption and thus limit
emissions.

Pursuant to standard ISO 14001, and in order to
demonstrate the compliance of its vessels and its

dedication to respecting the environment, the d’Amico
Group has developed and adopted a rigorous
approach to environmental analysis based on
identifying interactions between vessel activities and
the environment (water, air and other elements) and
then analyzing which of those interactions might have
a significant impact on the environment. 

Each year, DSN’s SQE team conducts an internal audit
(both onboard and ashore) aimed at identifying and
analyzing all factors (for example, bunkering and
shipping operations, clean-up of oil/chemical products
and the loading, transport and unloading of products),
products or services that have or may have a
significant environmental impact, thereby minimizing
risk and seeking to reduce CO2 emissions. The analysis
is based on a wide range of data, such as fuel type,
water consumption, measurements of acoustic and
electromagnetic pollution, construction data, vessel
and plant layouts and maintenance procedures and
intervals. The Group also considers indirect
environmental aspects related to the activities of third
parties such as the disposal of solid waste in dumps
and dry-dock work.
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Sustainable Development
The d’Amico Group’s strategy also calls for designing and
then implementing a Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR) Plan, driven by a full awareness of the importance
of social and environmental aspects and the recognition
of the proper responsibility for contributing to
sustainable development.

These programmes consist of principles and policies
involving several functions of a company. Some of the
milestones of the ship-management policies presented
in the foregoing section, such as the system of SQE
(Safety, Quality and Environment) procedures, are an
integral part of the corporate social responsibility master
plan. The section concerning crew management
policies demonstrates the importance that the d'Amico
Group attaches to its staff's workplace occupation,
safety and health conditions.

On the subject of the Group’s intended approach to
environmentally friendly operation, d'Amico is also
developing a Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plan
that calls for the application of measures specific to each
ship and company for managing and improving their
performances in terms of environmental impact. The
Management Plan provides a system of procedures and
measures to be adopted onshore by each company and
onboard each specific vessel and deals with the
following fundamental issues with the primary aim of
reducing CO2 emissions:

• the Programme for Measuring and Monitoring Ship
Efficiency;

• the Voyage Optimization Programme, which
includes optimizing the speed, route planning and
trim;

• the Propulsion Resistance Management Programme,
which refers to hull and propeller resistance;

• the Machinery Optimization Programme, which
focuses on engine management and monitoring, in
addition to the optimization of lubrication and other
machinery and equipment;

• Cargo Handling Optimization (cargo treatment and
temperature control); and

• the Energy Conservation Awareness Plan, which calls
for onboard and onshore staff training with the aim
of familiarizing employees with the company's
efficiency programme. At a more specific level,
training covers issues such as energy conservation
for quarters.

The energy conservation programme will be integrated,
more generally, with ship management activity. The
purpose of this arrangement will be to ensure that all
important information on the subject is understood and
applied by the management team.
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Board of Directors
In accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Parent Company, d'Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.,
the annual general shareholders' meeting held on 12
June 2009 set the number of members of the Board of
Directors for the three-year period 2009-2011 at four (4),
re-elected Chairman Paolo d’Amico and Directors
Cesare d’Amico and Roberto Michetti and appointed
Giovanni Battista Nunziante as a new director. At the
date of this report, the Board of Directors consisted of
four directors, three of whom are executive directors
and one of whom is a non-executive director. Their
terms are set to expire with the approval of the financial
statements for the year ended on 31 December 2011.
The three executive directors are Paolo d’Amico, Cesare
d’Amico and Roberto Michetti. 

In addition, DSN’s Board of Directors, at its session of 15
June 2009, during the process of delegating authority
and granting the associated powers of representation
to individual directors, resolved to grant Chairman of the
Board of Directors Paolo d'Amico and Cesare d'Amico
(the latter of whom was re-appointed the Company's
Chief Executive Officer) all powers of ordinary and
extraordinary administration, along with the associated
powers of representation, to be exercised separately
between them and with single signing authority, along
with the power to delegate third parties, separately
between them, to hold the powers of ordinary and
extraordinary administration conferred upon them by
issuing special powers of attorney, in addition to
granting Roberto Michetti full powers in the area of
Administration, Finance and Control. Pursuant to DSN’s
Articles of Association and Article 2 of the Regulation for
the Establishment and Operation of the Executive
Committee approved by in 2009, that same session of
the Board of Directors of 15 June 2009 formed an
Executive Committee for the three-year period
corresponding to financial years 2009/2011, appointing
Paolo d'Amico and Cesare d'Amico members and
granting the Committee authority, within the limits of
the law and the Company's Articles of Association, to
pass all resolutions concerning:

• the determination of the Company's organizational
structure;

• the employment, dismissal, transfer and granting of
positions and powers to the executives of d’Amico
Società di Navigazione S.p.A. and/or its subsidiaries;

• the definition of the strategic, industrial and financial
plans of d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. and

the associated budgets, including at the
consolidated level, business plans and updates
and/or revisions of such documents;

• the designation of members of the Board of
Directors, Executive Committee and Board of
Auditors of direct or indirect investees and directors
and representatives of d’Amico Società di
Navigazione S.p.A. within consortia, associations or
other entities; and

• the conferral of voting instructions for the
participation of representatives of d’Amico Società
di Navigazione S.p.A. in the general meetings of
investees.

Internal control system
Compliance with Legislative Decree No. 231 of 8
June 2001

Legislative Decree No. 231 of 8 June 2001 (hereinafter
‘Decree 231’) introduced administrative liability for
companies and entities as a result of specific types of
crimes set forth in the Italian Penal Code (such as crimes
against the public administration, corporate crimes,
market abuse, etc.) committed and prosecutable in Italy
by persons in senior positions or other employees in the
interests or for the benefit of that company or entity.
However, Decree 231 provides for a specific form of
exemption from such liability if the company or entity
has:

• adopted and effectively implemented an
appropriate compliance programme that aims to
develop an organic, structured system of
procedures, rules and controls to be conducted
both in advance and after the fact in order to reduce
and prevent the risk of commission of the various
types of crimes to a material extent, in particular by
identifying and drafting a procedure for each of the
sensitive activities identified as most at risk of crime
as set out in the Italian Penal Code (the ‘Organization,
Management and Control Model’ or ‘Model’); and

• entrusted responsibility for supervising the
functioning and observance of the Model, as well as
for updating the Model, to a specific body of the
entity (the ‘Supervisory Board’) endowed with
autonomous powers of initiative, control and
spending authority.

Corporate Governance

Report on Operations
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In voluntary application of Decree 231, d’Amico Società
di Navigazione S.p.A. therefore formally adopted a
Model and implemented specific operational
procedures for preventing the commission of offences
by resolution of the Board of Directors of 29 May 2008.
At that same session, the Board of Directors also
approved and adopted the Code of Conduct, which sets
forth the fundamental ethical principles to which DSN
conforms and with which directors, statutory auditors,
employees, consultants, partners and, generally, all
those who act in the Company's name and on its behalf
are required to comply, as well as appointing the
Supervisory Board, charged with the following duties:

• supervising the effectiveness of the Model, putting
in place control procedures for specific actions or
acts carried out by d’Amico Società di Navigazione
S.p.A., while also coordinating with the other
corporate functions in order to implement better
monitoring of activities at risk;

• periodically reviewing the efficiency and adequacy
of the Model, ascertaining that the elements
provided in the special parts for the various types of
crimes are adequate for the requirements of
observance of the provisions of Decree 231 and
identifying corporate activities in order to update
the map of activities at risk;

• evaluating the advisability of updating the Model
when necessary to update it in relation to corporate
requirements or conditions; and

• ensuring the required information flows, in part by
promoting suitable initiatives to raise awareness and
improve understanding of the model and co-
operating in drawing up and supplementing
internal rules.

DSN’s Supervisory Board is collegial in form and consists
of three members appointed following due assessment
and consideration of the following requirements
established for such function by Decree 231:
autonomous power of initiative, independence,
professionalism, consistency of action, absence of
conflicts of interest and integrity. All current members,
appointed by the Board of Directors on 23 May 2011,
will remain in office until the approval of the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2013. In
addition, on 29 January 2009 d’Amico Società di
Navigazione S.p.A., by proposal of the Supervisory Board,
approved the associated Internal Regulations, which
govern the Board's functioning, operating methods of
action, rights and duties. On the basis of the periodic
reports by the Supervisory Board concerning the

implementation, functioning, adequacy and efficacy of
the Model, the Board of Directors, after appropriate
evaluation, has deemed the Supervisory Board
adequate in terms of organizational structure and the
powers conferred upon it.

Board of Statutory Auditors

On 12 June 2009, the annual general meeting of the
shareholders re-elected for the three-year period 2009-
2011 all standing and substitute members of the Board of
Directors appointed in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the Italian Civil Code. Accordingly, their terms
of office are set to expire with the approval of these
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2011.  

Pursuant to Articles 2397 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code,
the Board of Statutory Auditors supervises ‘compliance
with the laws and the articles of association, observance of
the principles of sound management and, in particular,
the adequacy of the administrative, organizational and
accounting system adopted by the company and that
system's functioning in practice’.

Independent Auditors
On the basis of a justified opinion from the Board of
Statutory Auditors, the annual general meeting of the
shareholders held on 9 June 2010 resolved to extend the
engagement to act as independent auditors of the
statutory and consolidated financial statements for the
three-year period 2010-2012 conferred upon the firm
Moore Stephens Concorde, enrolled in the Register of
Independent Auditors instituted pursuant to article 2 of
Legislative Decree No. 39/2010, and thus set to expire on
the date of the general meeting of the shareholders to be
convened to approve the financial statements for the third
year of the period of engagement, namely the year ending
31 December 2012.
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Significant events of the Year
Dry cargo and container ships
d’Amico Dry Limited / Controlled fleet - During the
year, the M/n Medi Vitoria (Panamax) was purchased
through the exercise of the purchase option provided
for in the pre-existing charter contract; the M/n Cielo di
Agadir (container ship) was purchased and leased back
to Damighreb S.à.r.l. and the M/n Cork (Handymax) was
sold to third parties. Finally, two newly constructed
vessels, the M/n Cielo di Dublino and M/n Cielo di San
Francisco (Handysize) were delivered by South Korean
shipyards, whereas the M/n Medi Okinawa (Handymax)
was chartered for nine years.

d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. / Controlled fleet –
There were no changes in the composition of the dry
cargo and container fleet. Accordingly, charter contracts
for owned vessels did not change.

Tankers
d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. / Controlled fleet – In
the second quarter of 2011, d’Amico Shipping Italia
S.p.A. purchased two tankers: the M/t Cielo di Milano and
M/t Cielo di Roma, previously under bareboat charter.

d’Amico International Shipping S.A. / Controlled
fleet – In 2011 the subsidiary d’Amico Tankers Limited
returned to their respective owners the M/t Cielo di
Napoli (February), M/t High Glory (April), M/t Uzava (July)
and M/t Handytankers Liberty (October).

Turning to GLENDA International Shipping Limited
(‘GLENDA’), a joint venture between d’Amico
International Shipping S.A. and the Glencore Group, the
M/T GLENDA Melody, M/T GLENDA Meryl and M/T GLENDA
Melissa were delivered in the first quarter of 2011 in
completion of the plan to build new MR vessels to be
owned by GLENDA.

d’Amico International Shipping S.A. / Purchase and
subsequent sale of the tanker MR M/t High Century
- In June 2011, the subsidiary d’Amico Tankers Limited
entered into an agreement to purchase the M/t High
Century, a double-hull medium-range (MR) tanker
(48,676 DWT) built in 2006 by the shipyard Imabari
Shipbuilding Co. Ltd., Japan, negotiating a purchase
price of USD 23.8 million less than the market value of
the vessel, which was delivered in early July 2011. 
The time charter agreement for that vessel, entered into
in 2006, called for a purchase option for the charter

holder, d’Amico Tankers, which remained unexercised
inasmuch as the exercise price was not deemed
expedient. In September 2011, d’Amico Tankers Limited
then agreed on the sale of that same vessel to TMN Co.
Ltd, Thailand for the price of USD 28.0 million. The net
capital gain on the sale was approximately USD 3.3
million and delivery to the new owners was completed
in late October 2011.

d’Amico International Shipping S.A. / Purchase of
M/T Fabrizia D’Amato, a ‘second-hand’ Handysize
tanker – In the first half of 2011, d’Amico Tankers
Limited had approved the purchase of the Handysize
M/t Fabrizia D'Amato, a 40,081 DWT, double-hull
‘product/chemical’ tanker owned by D’Amato Shipping
S.r.l. and built in 2004 by the shipyard Shin-A
Shipbuilding Co. Ltd (South Korea). The agreed price for
this vessel was USD 24.5 million. The closing of the
purchase and delivery of the vessel, initially scheduled
for June 2011, were conditional on the rendering of a
judgment concluding the composition with creditors
procedure within a pre-determined time limit. Due to
the excessive delay with respect to the scheduled date
of delivery of the vessel, d’Amico Tankers refused to
accept the further continuation of the proceedings by
the judge presiding over the composition with creditors,
declaring the memorandum of agreement (‘MOA’), and
thus the sale of the vessel, to be void. Accordingly, the
entire amount paid by way of advance against the
purchase of the ship was refunded by D’Amato Shipping
S.r.l.   

d’Amico International Shipping S.A. / New line of
credit of USD 48 million - In July 2011, d’Amico Tankers
Limited entered into a new loan agreement in the
amount of USD 48.0 million with a consortium of
lenders consisting of Crédit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank and DnB NOR Bank ASA. The line of
credit was intended to finance the final instalments
owed to the shipyard Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co. Ltd
(South Korea) for the construction of two new 52,000
DWT MR product / chemical tankers with hull nos. 2307
(the High Seas) and 2308 (the High Tide), which were
delivered in March and April 2012, respectively. The loan
covers most of the instalments that remain to be paid to
the shipyard for the two vessels under construction, for
a total of USD 56.0 million. The term of the loan is seven
years commencing from delivery of the new vessels and
the interest rate is highly competitive. The line of credit
is secured by a first-degree mortgage registered on each
vessel and guaranteed by DIS.
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d’Amico International Shipping S.A. / Share
repurchase programme - In July 2011 the Board of
Directors of d’Amico International Shipping S.A. resolved
to launch a share repurchase programme in accordance
with the authorization granted by the ordinary general
meeting of the shareholders of 29 March 2011. As
approved by the Board of Directors, the programme
governs the purchase of ordinary DIS shares in order to
establish a treasury share reserve for possible use as a
means of payment in a sale, exchange, transfer,
contribution, pledge, award or any other disposition of
shares in the context of transactions relating to the
business undertaken by the Company and its investees
and in projects that represent an effective investment
opportunity in accordance with the Company’s policies,
such as agreements with strategic partners, the
acquisition of equity investments or shareholdings or
other extraordinary finance transactions involving the
allocation or granting of treasury shares (for example,
mergers, de-mergers, the issuance of convertible bonds
or warrants, etc.) and, more generally, for any other
purpose permitted by applicable current laws and
regulations. The share repurchase programme is to be
concluded by drawing on available reserves and/or
distributable profits, in observance of a minimum price
limit of Euro 0.50 and a maximum price limit of Euro 3.50
per share, for total consideration of between Euro 7.5
million and Euro 52.0 million. During the period from 6
July 2011 to 14 October 2011, d’Amico International
Shipping S.A. repurchased 700,000 shares, representing
0.46682% of share capital, for a weighted average price
of Euro 0.69 per share, for total consideration of Euro
483,253, on the regulated market managed by Borsa
Italiana S.p.A. As at 31 December 2011, d’Amico
International Shipping S.A. held 5,090,495 treasury
shares representing 3.3948% of outstanding share
capital.

Maritime services
Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A. – Incorporation
of Telemar Singapore Pte Ltd. - In February 2011, the
new fully-owned subsidiary Telemar Singapore Pte Ltd.
was incorporated in connection with an important
contract entered into in the South East Pacific area. This
event further reinforces the Group’s presence in
Singapore, which remains one of the greatest points of
concentration for the global maritime industry.

Ishima Pte Limited – During 2011, the company
continued to render ship management services to third
parties as well as group companies, while also
consolidating the various activities undertaken by its
subsidiaries in maritime procurement, insurance
brokerage and port services.

Financial and real-estate investments
d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. - During the
year, DSN continued its policy of investing in other
equity interests, thereby diversifying its efforts to
business sectors other than shipping. Specifically, in
2011 such investments related to the following
investees in particular: Club 3 S.r.l. (Euro 12.3 million),
Venice Shipping & Logistic S.p.A. (Euro 1.9 million),
Tamburi Investment Partners S.p.A. (Euro 2.5 million),
Datalogic S.p.A. (Euro 1.2 million) and Banco Popolare
Società Cooperativa A.R.L. (Euro 2.6 million). 

As mentioned elsewhere in this report, during 2011 DSN
also undertook a significant real-estate investment in
the form of the purchase of ownership of a property
located in central Rome (Via Paisiello) with an area of
approximately 6,000 square metres. The value of this
investment was Euro 58.6 million.
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Financial Performance Analysis – The Group
Summary of 2011 results
The reporting year was characterized by a constantly
evolving scenario. The year was marked by natural
disasters, a series of geopolitical crises and somewhat
discouraging economic data. The European public debt
crisis, accompanied by persistent uncertainty
surrounding the geopolitical situation in North Africa and
the Middle East, represented an especially serious
problem. 

In the tankers sector in particular, projections for demand
for oil products in 2011 were revised downwards during
the year due to the adjustment of GDP growth estimates.
Owing to exceptionally low refining margins in northern
hemisphere OECD nations, there was an increase in the
number of refinery sales or permanent closures. However,
the constant difficulties affecting the supply of petroleum
products did not result in an effective, substantive
increase in margins in the tankers sector, although a
better utilization rate for medium and Handysize tankers
did permit the fluctuation of charter rates to be limited.
d’Amico International Shipping reported a consolidated
net loss of approximately Euro 21 million.

The dry cargo sector was characterized by a significant
increase in the number of vessels to an extent that meant
that the considerable increase in demand (approximately
9.6% in 2011 compared to 13.4% in 2010) was barely
sufficient. This increase in the supply of tonnage put
pressure on market charter levels, resulting in an average
reduction of 44% in the Baltic Dry Index compared to
2010 (a reduction that came to 44% for Panamax vessels
and 36% for Supramax and Handysize ships). 

The net profit for 2011 came to Euro 22.0 million. The
performances of the main areas of business in which the
d’Amico Group operates, as described above, did not, as
expected, permit the Group to repeat the extraordinary
results achieved in the previous year (a net profit of Euro
124.8 million), yet are still to be viewed in a positive light
owing to the changed operating context in the dry cargo
sector. 

The operating cash flows generated during the reporting
year (Euro 71.8 million), in conjunction with the
management of the Group’s financial resources, allowed
the Group to retain its financial solidity. As at 31
December 2011, despite the significant investments
undertaken during the year, the Group’s net debt, most of
which is medium/long term, was limited to Euro 106.0
million, whereas shareholders’ equity stood at Euro 928.4
million (Euro 916.4 million as at 31 December 2010). 

In light of a macroeconomic scenario characterized by
persistent uncertainty and in a complex, competitive
market, the results that the Group was able to achieve
during the year appear especially significant. The business
model has continued to be centred on a growth strategy
in the core shipping sector based balanced, sound use of
the fleet. This strategy, in conjunction with the
optimization of financial performance in the near term,
allows the Group to generate the operating cash flow
that it will need to support its investment plans.

Operating performance

The 10% decrease in revenue in 2011 to Euro 710.3
million compared to Euro 788.7 million in the previous
year reflects in particular the changed conditions of the
dry cargo shipping sector, as well as the dynamics of the
fleet employed by the d’Amico Group.

Gross operating profit, or EBITDA, declined compared
to 2011 while remaining at margin levels in excess of 14%
(23% in 2010). The challenging operating and market
circumstances that characterized 2011 had a significant
impact on performance, while allowing the Group to
retain an EBITDA margin sufficient to absorb considerable
amortization and depreciation charges and achieve an
operating profit of Euro 49.2 million (Euro 135.6 million in
2010), or a margin equal to 7% of revenue.

Net financial charges of Euro 20.2 million (Euro 10.1
million in 2010) resulted in a profit before taxes of Euro
29.0 million (Euro 125.5 million in the previous year),
whereas the net profit for 2011 was Euro 22.0 million
(Euro 124.7 million in 2010).

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Revenue 710,346 788,694

Gross operating profit / EBITDA 102,230 183,073

Operating profit / EBIT 49,212 135,613

Profit before taxes 29,040 125,500

NET PROFIT 21,985 124,745
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Statement of financial position

The significant increase in Non-current assets (Euro
1,016.2 million compared to Euro 851.4 million at the
end of 2010) was due to both investments relating to
the fleet of vessels and the financial and real-estate
investments undertaken in 2011. As at 31 December
2011, the total balance included, in particular, Euro 828.9
million attributable to the carrying value of owned
vessels, Euro 81.7 million attributable to equity
investments in companies not subject to consolidation
and Euro 91.5 million in real-estate investments. 

During 2011, the Group undertook a total of Euro 206.3
million in acquisition of tangible assets, of which Euro
146.6 million referred to owned vessels and Euro 58.9
million to investments in real estate. Euro 21 million of
acquisition of net long-term investments (equity
interests) also took place.

The components of working capital, such as trade
receivables and inventories, in the total amount of Euro
196.6 million, are included among Current assets, the
balance of which was Euro 548.0 million. That aggregate
also includes cash and cash equivalents and other
current financial assets (cash and short-term treasury
investments) of Euro 351.4, as commented upon in the
analysis of the Group’s net indebtedness provided
below.

As a consequence of the investments undertaken
during the reporting period, the balance of Non-
current liabilities rose from Euro 323.6 million at the
end of 2010 to Euro 417.9 million as at 31 December
2011. The above item refers almost exclusively to
payables to banks for loans pertaining to purchases of
fleet vessels and real-estate investments undertaken in
2011. Current liabilities, which totalled Euro 217.8

million as at 31 December 2011, include, as a part of
working capital, short-term trade payables (Euro 167.3
million) and, to a lesser extent, stable with respect to the
previous year, short-term payables to banks (Euro 36.6
million).

Shareholders’ equity stood at Euro 928.4 million as at
31 December 2011, representing a further improvement
over the figure of Euro 916.4 million reported at the end
of the previous year.

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets 1,016,154 851,352

Current assets 547,959 592,991

TOTAL ASSETS 1,564,113 1,444,343

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity 928,434 916,430

Non-current liabilities 417,870 323,574

Current liabilities 217,809 204,339

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,564,113 1,444,343
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As at 31 December 2011, the Group had net
indebtedness of Euro 106.0 million, compared to net
liquidity of Euro 49.8 million as at 31 December 2010.
The change was due not only to the significant
investments undertaken, but also to the financial
performance and the resulting lesser operating cash

flows during the reporting period. It should be
emphasized that the Group continues to present a
financial situation characterized by a high level of
financial solidity, with considerable net current liquidity
of Euro 303.6 million and a debt structure largely
comprising medium-/long-term indebtedness.

Cash flow

Cash and equivalents as at 31 December 2011 were
affected by the significant investments undertaken
during the year. The net cash used during 2011 came to
Euro 63.7 million. The significant operating cash flow of
Euro 71.8 million, while inferior to the especially
significant performance achieved in the previous year,

nonetheless allowed the Group to sustain net
investments of Euro 158.6 million. Cash flows from
financing activities include Euro 137.0 million procured
by drawing down lines of credit, net of repayments
(Euro 54.4 million), as well as changes in other financial
assets and liabilities.

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December  2011 As at 31 December 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 184,599 248,301

Current financial assets 166,772 156,755

TOTAL CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 351,371 405,056
Bank loans - current (36,568) (26,467)

Other current financial liabilities (11,252) (14,286)

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (47,820) (40,753)
NET CURRENT LIQUIDITY / (INDEBTEDNESS) 303,551 364,303

OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 865 2,093
Bank loans - non-current (401,991) (315,121)

Other non-current financial liabilities (8,437) (1,442)

TOTAL NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (410,428) (316,563)
NET NON-CURRENT LIQUIDITY / (INDEBTEDNESS) (409,563) (314,470)
NET LIQUIDITY / (INDEBTEDNESS) (106,012) 49,833

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 71,801 177,443

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (158,609) (102,164)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 23,106 (88,420)

NET CASH PROVIDED / (USED) (63,702) (13,141)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (63,702) (13,141)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 248,301 261,442

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 184,599 248,301
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Operating Performance by Business Area 
Dry-cargo and container ships

The Euro 345.8 million in revenue deriving from the
operation of the fleet of dry-cargo vessels is primarily
attributable to d'Amico Dry Limited (Euro 278 million).
The remainder of the revenue from the foregoing sector
originated with d’Amico UK Limited, d’Amico Shipping
Italia S.p.A and Damighreb S.à.r.l.

The decrease in turnover compared to the previous year
was chiefly due to a decline in the charter market that
was especially evident in the second half of 2011. This
downtrend was due in particular to the entry to the
market of a significant number of vessels delivered by

shipyards. However, due to the hedging strategy
(medium-/long-term fixed-rate contracts), the results for
the year were not affected to a significant extent. In
addition, the market presented opportunities for short-
term arbitrage that allowed the Group to achieve strong
results in terms of margins.

The carrying amount of fixed assets, corresponding to
the 22 owned ships in the fleet (in addition to the four
others under construction), stood at Euro 375.3 million.
Despite the reduction in the market value of dry-cargo
vessels, the recoverable amounts of the vessels deriving
from their use exceed their carrying amounts, meaning
that the assets have not become impaired.

Gross investments stood at Euro 57.9 million in 2011 and
were associated with instalments paid to shipyards for
vessels under construction and vessels purchased
during the year. Those investments also include
capitalized dry-dock costs for owned vessels.

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Revenue 345,845 422,796

Fixed assets (fleet) 375,305 310,727

Investments (fleet) 57,862 88,647
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Tankers

The Euro 228.5 million in revenue deriving from the
operation of the fleet of tankers is primarily associated with
d'Amico International Shipping S.A. (Euro 209.6 million).
The remainder of the revenue from the tanker sector
originated with d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. 

During 2011, there was a decrease in revenue compared
to the previous year owing both to the lesser number of
tankers operated and the average daily charter rate, which

overall was lower than in 2010. The decrease in average
daily revenue in 2011 compared to 2010 was chiefly due
to the reduction in the average fixed rate. Spot rates were
virtually stable at a quarterly level.

The carrying amount of fixed assets is represented
essentially by the carrying amount of the 18 owned
vessels in the fleet (Euro 453.5 million). The recoverable
amounts of the vessels deriving from their use have been
estimated to exceed than their carrying amounts,
meaning that the assets have not become impaired.

Gross investments stood at Euro 88.7 million in 2011 and
were associated with purchases of 4.5 new units and
instalments paid to shipyards for the purchase of vessels
under construction. Those investments also include
capitalized dry-dock costs for owned vessels.

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Revenue 228,559 233,922

Fixed assets (fleet) 453,546 429,486

Investments (fleet) 88,697 61,793

Source: Clarksons Research Services Limited, as of 23 January 2012. Percentage of total product tankers (4,524 vessels) excludes vessels with
stainless steel tanks.
Source: Clarkson as at  Jan.’12
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Maritime services

Of the total turnover reported by maritime services,
Euro 110.8 million may be attributed to Compagnia
Generale Telemar S.p.A., which consolidated its market
position in 2011. Fuel bunkering operations, conducted
by Rudder, contributed Euro 3.4 million to the Group's
2011 revenue, while revenue on ship and crew
management on behalf of third parties (associated
directly with DSN and Ishima Pte. Limited) came to Euro
7.8 million.

Given the nature of the services rendered, the values of
fixed assets and investments in such assets are not
especially significant. 

Financial and real-estate investments

Long-term equity investments are investments of a
strategic nature in equity interests and other
companies. Such investments are undertaken directly
by d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. through the
use of available financial resources. 

The investments undertaken in 2011 primarily related
to the following investees: ClubTre S.r.l. (Euro 12.3
million), Tamburi Investment Partners S.p.A. (Euro 2.5
million), Venice Ship Logistic S.p.A. (Euro 1.9 million),
Datalogic S.p.A. (Euro 1.2 million) and Banco Popolare
Società Cooperativa A.R.L. (Euro 2.6 million). 

As in the previous year, the process of managing the
portfolio of current financial resources saw the Group
invest its liquidity primarily in equities, bonds or bank
deposits. Operations of this nature, which are
conducted by d’Amico International S.A. and DSN,
yielded a total of Euro 3.2 million in financial income.
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(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Revenue 135,942 128,756

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Long-term equity investments 81,743 60,773

Acquisitions of long-term  
equity investments 20,995 33,502

Real property 91,541 34,425

Acquisitions of real property 58,926 2,544



Operating performance
The reclassified income statement presented below has
been prepared on the basis of the statutory financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, to
which the reader is referred.

Financial year 2011 ended with a net profit of Euro 64.7
million (Euro 44.6 million as at 31 December 2010).
Similarly to the previous year, this performance was
essentially due to the income on equity investments
held directly by d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.,
and in particular by the amount of the dividends
collected in 2011 from the subsidiaries d’Amico
Shipping Italia S.p.A. and d’Amico International S.A.,
which are responsible for a significant share of the
shipping operations of the dry-cargo and containers
and tankers division, in addition to the investment of
current financial resources. The increase in income on
equity investments (dividends) compared to the
previous year was due to the earnings performances of
Group companies.

The other revenue earned in 2011, which was stable
compared to 2010, is associated with the services
rendered by the Parent Company to other Group
companies in the areas of ship management services
for vessels in the company fleet and other services of a
corporate nature, such as co-ordination and legal
counsel, internal auditing and human resource
management.

The costs are associated with salaried employees, chiefly
responsible for ship management operations for the
fleet, as well as other operations deriving from DSN's
nature as a holding company, and the ensuing
coordination of functions relating to administration,
legal affairs and human resources. In addition to the
costs of salaried employees, the costs for the year
include other structural costs incurred by d’Amico
Società di Navigazione S.p.A. 

Financial position 

The financial structure of d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.
reflects the nature of the core business of the d’Amico Group's
holding company. Non-current assets (Euro 247.4 million)
consist primarily of long-term equity investments (Euro 175.8
million) and tangible assets, represented in particular by other
owned properties (Euro 65.4 million). In this regard, it should be
mentioned that in December 2011 DSN acquired a 75% equity
interest in Domas Immobiliare S.r.l., the owner of an important
property located in Imperia, for Euro 577 thousand. In early
2012, DSN, as the new shareholder, disbursed an interest-free
shareholders’ loan of approximately Euro 11 million, as
requested by the subsidiary. The company then accordingly
repaid the loan of the same amount to the seller, inasmuch as
the minority shareholder did not oppose such repayment.
Current assets, the total balance of which was Euro 24.5
million as at 31 December 2011, comprise items of a financial
nature, such as cash and cash equivalents (Euro 17.1 million)
and short-term investments of financial resources (Euro 4.7
million). 

DSN had total Shareholders' equity of Euro 197.2 million as
at the end of 2011. Non-current liabilities came to Euro 38.4
million and refer primarily (Euro 33.3 million) to the financing
for the purchase of the property in 2011, whereas the
remainder refers to a finance lease (Euro 1.7 million) and
provisions for employee benefits. Current liabilities (Euro 36.3
million) primarily include a loan received from the subsidiary
d'Amico International S.A. in the amount of Euro 30.3 million,
whereas the remainder comprises the portion of the
foregoing financing set to come due in 2012.

d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. continued to show a
solid financial position, with net indebtedness of Euro 38.0
million as at 31 December 2011. The change compared to the
net liquidity of Euro 4.5 million reported at the end of the
previous year was closely correlated to the real-estate
investment closed in 2011.
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Financial Performance Analysis 
d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Dividends 70,320 46,930

Other revenue 11,622 11,376

General and administrative costs 
and other operating costs (17,416) (15,337)

Net financial income / (charges) 415 2,091

Income taxes (241) (473)

NET PROFIT 64,700 44,587

(Thousands of euro) As at As at
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

Non-current assets 247,367 168,420

Current assets 24,500 17,772

TOTAL ASSETS 271,867 186,192
Shareholders’ equity 197,151 162,666

Non-current liabilities 38,368 5,006

Current liabilities 36,348 18,520

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’  
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 271,867 186,192
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Dry-cargo and container ships
d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. / Controlled fleet - the
M/n Alemania (a container ship) was chartered in for a
period of four months and chartered out to Damighreb
S.à.r.l.

Tankers 
d’Amico International Shipping S.A. / Controlled
fleet  – In January 2012 the M/t Freja Hafnia, a MR vessel
built in 2006, was delivered to d’Amico Tankers Limited
for a charter period of one year. At the end of March
2012, the M/t High Seas, a newly built owned MR vessel,
was delivered to d’Amico Tankers Limited by the
shipbuilders Hyundai-Mipo (South Korea). In March
2012 d’Amico Tankers Limited also entered into an
agreement to purchase the M/t High Prosperity, a
double-hull (48,400 DWT) MR tanker launched in 2006
from the shipyard Imabari Shipbuilding Co. Ltd. (Japan)
and chartered by d'Amico Tankers since 2006. Delivery
of the vessel is scheduled for May 2012.

Maritime services
Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A. – In early 2012,
Telemar continues to grow and develop, chiefly through
the German subsidiary and the new Singaporean
company, which received an important order for a
significant amount for the next three years.

Financial and real-estate investments
During 2012, DSN made good on its commitment in
connection with the acquisition of Domas Immobiliare
S.r.l., disbursing an interest-free shareholders’ loan of
Euro 11 million to the company.

Business outlook
In light of the current conditions of the economy at a
global level, the short-term outlook remains uncertain.
Concerns prevail, in connection with both the public
debt crisis currently affecting Europe in particular and, in
the near term, the slowdown in emerging economies.
The medium-/long-term outlook for the shipping sector
remains positive. However, projections for 2012 are
oriented towards caution.

Significant Events since the End of the Year and Business
Outlook



2011 Annual Report | 29

Report on Operations

The primary factors that it is believed will continue to
condition the shipping market and the d’Amico Group’s
performance remain (i) the performance of the demand
for petroleum products and raw materials at a global
level, tied to economic macro-indicators and the GDP
trends in various countries and/or economic areas; and
(ii) the supply of vessels, and in particular the number
of new vessels delivered or to be delivered in the
coming months.

The growth trend for the global fleet was the key factor
affecting demand for dry-bulk shipping. An assessment
of the performance of the demand for tonnage,
primarily tied to the growth rates of emerging nations
(BRICS), as well as of supply, shows that the rate of
growth of the dry-cargo fleet slightly exceeds expected
demand, with the resulting effect on the charter market. 

Expectations for rate of growth of tonnage demand
come to approximately 9.3% (RS Platou), in line with the
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levels of 2011. This trend is primarily related to Chinese
importation of commodities such as coal and iron ore,
although it is expected that factors such as the
extension of the routes to be serviced, as well as
significant port waiting times, may have a positive
impact on demand.

The increase in the tonnage supply (23%, if currently
existing orders are considered – Clarksons) is expected
to be mitigated by factors such as the effective
reduction of deliveries (35% in 2011) and the scrapping
of old vessels, resulting in an estimated net growth rate
of approximately 11% in 2012, slightly below the level
reported in 2011.

In the tanker sector, the refinery closures set to occur in
the second quarter of 2012 remain the key factor that is
to shape future tanker demand. Extremely low margins
and returns forced the closure of numerous refineries,
especially in OECD nations, North America and Europe.
Economically efficient, more recently built refineries
located in emerging nations should be well placed to
meet a possible increase in demand. The considerable
change of direction in crude oil shipping from the
western to the eastern hemisphere should foster more

efficient usage of tankers and an increase in the demand
for ton-miles. The International Energy Agency (IEA) has
confirmed its projections concerning the increase in
demand for petroleum products in early 2012, which is
expected to be limited to 800,000 barrels a day. The
relatively weak economic scenario, with global GDP
growth expected to come to 3.3% in 2012 (3.8% in
2011), and high oil prices represent a brake on the
increase in consumption.

The elements presented above are the primary factors
that may condition future developments and
performances. The section entitled “Financial
performance analysis” contains an illustration of the
Group's financial position, cash flows and net
indebtedness. In addition to significant cash reserves,
d'Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. has access to
further significant financial resources owing to its lines
of credit. Furthermore, in keeping with its balanced
business model, a significant portion of revenue has
been guaranteed by fixed-rate time-charter contracts
and contracts of affreightment. Accordingly,
management believe that the Group's position is
adequate to ensure effective management of business
risks.

Global Oil Demand Growth1 2012 - 2016
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Global Oil Demand1 2012 – 2016
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Medium Range Product Tankers deliveries / scrapping

Net MR1 fleet growth 2008 - 2014
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Treasury shares owned by the parent
company
d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. does not hold any
treasury shares, either directly or indirectly.

Research and development
In consideration of the characteristics of the sectors in
which it operates, neither d’Amico Società di
Navigazione S.p.A. nor the other Group companies
engaged in any activity of this sort during the year.

Disclosure concerning derivative
instruments
With respect to the disclosure concerning the use of
financial instruments required by Article 2428, paragraph
2, point 6-bis) of the Italian Civil Code, it should be noted
that the following derivative instruments were
outstanding as at 31 December 2011:
• forward freight agreements (FFAs) aimed at hedging

charter rates for shipping using dry-cargo vessels;
• currency options, forward foreign exchange and

futures contracts aimed at hedging against
fluctuations of exchange rates and pursuing
speculative objectives;

• interest rate swaps (IRSs) intended to convert the
fixed-rate portion of the financial indebtedness
contracted to floating rate; and

• bunker hedging to hedge fluctuations in the price of
fuel for vessels.

Further information regarding the nominal value and fair
value of such financial instruments is presented in the
notes to the statutory and consolidated financial
statements.

Dealings with related parties
For information concerning dealings with associates, the
Parent Company and subsidiaries of the Parent
Company, please refer to the notes to the statutory and
consolidated financial statements.

Privacy – Personal data protection code
(pursuant to Legislative Decree
196/2003)
On 30 March 2012, d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.
updated its Personal Data Security and Processing Plan
(the ‘Security Plan’) for the period running from 31 March
2011 to 31 March 2012. In further detail, DSN, upon
completing a periodic assessment of the potential
critical issues to which personal data processing is
exposed, verified the efficacy of all security measures
(physical, logical and organizational) already in place to
protect data processing, modifying the existing Security
Plan as necessary and updating the Register of Data
Processors. 

During the year, d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.
also implemented the provisions of its Disaster Recovery
Plan, drafted in accordance with the Confidence project,
which entered into effect in the first half of 2011. The
Disaster Recovery Plan lays down the main
organizational procedures for responding and restoring
the operations of the ICT office following the
occurrence of events considered adverse, and its scope
of application extends to all Group companies.

In accordance with the instructions provided by the
Personal Data Protection Authority, it should be noted
that the Group uses software to log and analyze access
to network resources and applications by the ICT office
personnel assigned to help desk, maintenance and
application management duties and thus endowed
with special privileges for access to the Company's
information-technology resources.  

Organization, management and control
model (pursuant to Legislative Decree
No. 231/01)
During 2011, the Group carried out activities aimed at
updating the risk assessment by conducting interviews
of function heads and/or persons charged with
processes identified as sensitive within the meaning of
Legislative Decree No. 231/2001.

Other Information
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The outcome of the aforementioned updates, which
reflected the introduction in 2011 of the new predicate
offences to the scope of application of Legislative
Decree 231/2001, was then analyzed in order to
improve the advance control system and conduct an
organic revision of the Organization, Management and
Control Model of d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.

Management and coordination
d'Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. is not subject to
management and coordination by other companies or
entities and determines its general and operational
strategic guidelines in full autonomy, and it is currently
responsible for management and coordination,
pursuant to Articles 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code,
solely for d'Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A., a fully-owned
subsidiary.
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d’Amico Società di Navigazione Group

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Thousands of euro) Notes 2011 2010

Revenue 4 710,346 788,694

Operating costs 5 (480,091) (485,331)

General and administrative costs 6 (143,043) (132,955)

Capital gains on the disposal of fixed assets 7 15,018 12,665

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT 102,230 183,073
Depreciation, amortization and impairment (53,018) (47,460)

OPERATING PROFIT 49,212 135,613
Financial income 8 3,226 9,134

Financial charges 8 (21,772) (13,869)

Net foreign exchange gains / (losses) 8 (1,626) (5,378)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 29,040 125,500
Income taxes 9 (7,055) (756)

NET PROFIT 21,985 124,744
Attributable to:

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (2,280) (2,495)
EQUITY HOLDER 24,265 127,239
Earnings per share 2.20 12.47

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Net profit 21,985 124,744

Translation differences on foreign operations 27,641 (1,732)

Change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial instruments 645 4,926

Effective part of gains/(losses) on hedging instruments (2,111) (7,766)

Comprehensive income 48,160 120,172

Attributable to:

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 918 (2,495)
EQUITY HOLDER 47,242 122,667

Consolidated Income Statement  

(Thousands of euro) Notes 2011 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Intangible assets 10 8,642 8,810

Tangible assets 11 924,904 779,676

Long-term investments 12 81,743 60,773

Other non-current financial assets 13 865 2,093

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,016,154 851,352

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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The financial statements presented above were approved for publication on 3 May 2012 on behalf of the Board
of Directors by:

Paolo d’Amico, Chairman Cesare d’Amico, Chief Executive Officer

(Thousands of euro) Notes 2011 2010

Current assets

Inventories 14 37,671 32,561

Short-term receivables and other current assets 15 158,917 155,374

Other current financial assets 16 166,772 156,755

Cash and cash equivalents 17 184,599 248,301

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 547,959 592,991

TOTAL ASSETS 1,564,113 1,444,343

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 25,000 25,000

Retained earnings 804,436 687,263

Other reserves (18,674) (19,129)

Net profit 24,265 127,239

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - PARENT 835,027 820,373
Capital and reserves – Non-controlling interest 95,687 98,552

Net profit – Non-controlling interest (2,280) (2,495)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 18 928,434 916,430

Non-current liabilities

Provisions for risks and charges 19 671 679

Banks and other lenders 21 401,991 315,121

Provisions for employee benefits 20 5,322 4,974

Other non-current financial liabilities 22 8,437 1,442

Deferred tax liabilities 1,449 1,358

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 417,870 323,574

Current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 21 36,568 26,467

Short-term payables and other current liabilities 23 167,275 161,922

Other current financial liabilities 24 11,252 14,286

Current tax liabilities 25 2,714 1,664

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 217,809 204,339

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,564,113 1,444,343
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 21,985 124,744
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 38,186 47,460

Current and deferred tax 7,055 756

Financial charges 20,172 10,113

Fair value gains on foreign currency translation 10,434 (43,526)

Other non-cash items 3,362 27,775

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEFORE CHANGES
IN WORKING CAPITAL 101,194 167,322
Movement in inventories (5,110) (9,597)

Movement in short-term amounts receivable (3,543) 6,732

Movement in short-term amounts payable 5,346 28,870

Taxes paid (5,914) (5,771)

Interest collected / (paid) (20,172) (10,113)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 71,801 30,347
Acquisition of fixed assets (206,359) (157,901)

Disposal/derecognition of fixed assets 47,750 55,737

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (158,609) (102,164)
Other changes in shareholders' equity (547) 28,277

Movement in financial assets/liabilities (27,465) (68,348)

Bank loan repayments (54,372) (70,146)

Bank loan draw-downs 137,047 52,815

Dividends paid (31,557) (31,018)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 23,106 (88,420)

NET CASH PROVIDED / (USED) (63,702) (13,141)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 248,301 261,442

Exchange gains / (losses) on cash and cash equivalents (63,702) (13,141)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 184,599 248,301
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
SHARE OTHER RESERVES RETAINED EARNINGS NET TOTAL MINORITY TOTAL

CAPITAL PROFIT INTERESTS SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY

Trans./ Cash flow Fair value Legal Non distr. Extraord. Retained  Net profit Total Minority Total 
cons. hedging reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings interests shareholders’

reserve reserve art. 2426 equity

31 DECEMBER 09 25,000 (10,160) 674 (5,070) 5,000 3,215 71,661 516,625 94,058 701,003 96,266 797,269

Dividends paid (30,000) ( 30,000) ( 30,000)

Allocation of net profit 97,358 (33,300) (64,058) - - 

Change in minority 
interest shareholders’ 
equity 2,286 2,286

Comprehensive 
income (1,732) (7,767) 4,927 127,239 122,667 (2,495) 120,172

Other changes (2,135) 28,839 26,704 26,704

31 DECEMBER 10 25,000 (11,892)(7,093) (143) 5,000 1,080 169,019 512,164 127,239 820,374 96,057 916,431

SHARE OTHER RESERVES RETAINED EARNINGS NET TOTAL MINORITY TOTAL
CAPITAL PROFIT INTERESTS SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY

Trans./ Cash flow Fair value Legal Non distr. Extraord. Retained  Net profit Total Minority Total 
cons. hedging reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings interests shareholders’

reserve reserve art. 2426 equity

31 DECEMBER 10 25,000 (11,892)(7,093) (143) 5,000 1,080 169,019 512,164 127,239 820,374 96,057 916,431

Dividends paid (30,000) ( 30,000) ( 30,000)

Allocation of net profit 1,054 39,624 56,561 (97,239) - -

Change in minority 
interest shareholders’ 
equity (3,568) (3,568)

Comprehensive 
income 6,522 (2,315) (247) 19,017 24,265 47,242 918 48,160

Other changes (3,519) 13 235 682 (2,589) (2,589)

31 DECEMBER 11 25,000 (8,889)(9,408) (377) 5,000 2,369 208,643 588,424 24,265 835,027 93,407 928,434
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Introduction
d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. is an Italian joint-
stock company that acts as the holding company for the
d’Amico Group, which operates in shipping and auxiliary
services on a global scale. Within the shipping sector,
the d’Amico Group is currently active in dry cargo,
container and tanker shipping.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with international accounting
principles (hereinafter International Accounting
Standards – IASs and/or International Financial
Reporting Standards – IFRSs) and the interpretations of
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) and Standing Interpretations
Committee (SIC) endorsed by the European
Commission (also referred to collectively hereinafter as
‘IFRSs’). This election, as permitted by applicable current
legislation, has been made voluntarily.

These consolidated financial statements were approved
for publication by the Board of Directors on 3 May 2012.

1. Accounting policies

Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated
statement of changes in shareholders' equity,
consolidated statement of cash flows and the notes. In
the income statement, costs have been classified by
nature. All revenue and cost items recognized during
a given year are presented in two separate statements,
the income statement and statement of
comprehensive income. The presentation scheme
adopted for the statement of financial position is
based on a distinction between current and non-
current assets and liabilities. Current assets, which
include cash and cash equivalents, are those intended
to be realized, disposed of or used in the Group's
normal operating cycle or the 12 months after year-
end; current liabilities are those expected to be
extinguished during the normal operating cycle or the
12 months after year-end. The indirect method has
been used to prepare the statement of cash flows.

IFRSs have been applied in accordance with the
indications provided in the Framework for the

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
and there were no critical situations requiring the use
of departures pursuant to IAS 1, paragraph 19.

The d'Amico Group has access to adequate resources
suited to ensuring that it may continue to operate in
the near future. The financial statements have
therefore been prepared on a going-concern basis, by
applying the historical cost method, with the
exception of those line items that are measured at fair
value in accordance with IFRSs.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in euro, the Parent Company's functional currency.
Unless otherwise indicated, amounts are expressed in
thousands of euro.

The following is a summary of the major accounting
policies applied.

Consolidation principles
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities for which the Group directly or
indirectly holds the power to determine financial and
operating policies in order to obtain benefits from their
operations. Effectively exercisable or convertible
potential voting rights are also considered when
assessing the existence of control. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements effective the date on
which control begins until the date on which control
ceases. The assets and liabilities of the Parent Company
and subsidiaries are fully consolidated on a line-by-line
basis, and the carrying amounts of the equity
investments held by the parent company and
consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated against the
corresponding share of shareholders' equity.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has a
significant influence. Effectively exercisable or
convertible potential voting rights are also considered
when assessing the existence of significant influence.
Such equity investments are recognized at acquisition
cost. The Group’s share of net profit or loss is recognized
in the consolidated financial statements from the date
on which significant influence is obtained until the date

Notes
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such influence ceases. Associates are entities over which
the Group has a significant influence, but not control or
joint control, of financial and operating policies, as
defined by IAS 28 – Investments in Associates. If the
Group’s share of an associate’s losses exceeds the
carrying amount of the equity investment, the value of
that investment is reduced to zero and the share of
additional losses is not recognized, except to the extent
the Group is liable for those losses.

Joint venture

Joint ventures are entities over whose activities the
Group has joint control, as defined in IAS 31 – Interests in
Joint Ventures. In the consolidated financial statements,
the assets, liabilities, revenue and costs of joint ventures
are included on a proportional basis according to the
Group's interest.  

Intra-group transactions

Intra-group balances and transactions and the resulting
profits have been eliminated during the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains
and losses associated with intra-group transactions have
also been eliminated. Minority interests and the minority
share of net profit or loss are presented separately from
the shareholders' equity attributable to the Group on
the basis of the percentage of net assets attributable to
minorities. The Group’s share of any unrealized gains or
losses with associates and joint ventures has been
eliminated to the extent of the share attributable to the
Group.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially
recognized at the spot exchange rate on the
transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are converted into
the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on
the reporting date. Any resulting exchange differences
are recognized through the income statement.

In the consolidated financial statements, the income
statement items of subsidiaries that do not report in
euro are converted at the average exchange rate for
the period, whereas assets and liabilities are converted
at the spot exchange rate at the reporting date.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of
financial statements into Euro are recognized directly

through the statement of comprehensive income and
included in the translation reserve. When the Group
disposes of an investment in a foreign operation, and
thus relinquishes control, significant influence or joint
control of that operation, the total amount of the
translation reserve associated with that operation is
reclassified to the income statement at the time of the
disposal.

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for according to
the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
determined as the sum of the current fair values at the
date of exchange of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed by the acquirer, as well as any financial
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Costs directly attributable to the
acquisition are recognized in the income statement. The
acquiree's assets, liabilities and identifiable potential
liabilities are recognized at their fair value, with the
exception of a few limited items. The difference
between the acquisition cost and the Group' share the
fair value of the acquiree's assets, liabilities and
identifiable potential liabilities is recognized as goodwill,
where positive, or in the income statement, where
negative. During first-time adoption of IFRSs, as
provided for in the applicable accounting standards, the
goodwill generated by acquisitions prior to the date of
transition to IFRSs has been maintained at the previous
value determined according to Italian GAAP, subject to
impairment testing and recognition of any losses.

Revenue recognition
Transport service revenue is recognized on a
percentage-of-completion basis, determined according
to the discharge-to-discharge approach for all spot
voyages and voyages servicing contracts of
affreightment (COAs). According to this approach,
freight revenue is recognized by reference to the period
from a vessel's departure from its original discharge port
to its subsequent destination. The date of departure is
defined as the date of the most recent discharge, and
the voyage ends at the next discharge (hence ‘discharge
to discharge’). The Group recognizes revenue on
voyages in progress at the end of a reporting period on
the basis of the state of progress of the voyage at the
reporting date with respect to its total estimated
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duration and intended destination. Revenue from time-
charter contracts is recognized in proportion to the
charter period as the service is rendered.

Freight contracts include conditions concerning vessel
loading and unloading times. According to the
contractual terms and conditions agreed upon by the
parties to the charter contract, demurrage revenue,
recognized when freight service is rendered, represents
the estimated compensation for the additional time
required to unload a vessel. Demurrage revenue is
recognized when the voyage is complete. 

The operating subsidiaries of d'Amico International
Shipping in the tankers division earn a significant share
of their revenue in pools. Total pool revenue is
generated by each of the vessels participating in the
pools to which the Group is a party. The Group's share of
pool revenue depends on the number of days on which
the Group's vessels were made available to the pool
with respect to the total pool revenue. Pool companies
are considered joint ventures. Fully-owned pool legal
entities are consolidated line-by-line, but by recognizing
the Group's share of revenue net of the share to be
attributed to other pool participants. That share of
revenue attributable to the other pool partners is
concurrently recognized among trade payables.

Revenue on services other than marine transport are
recognized according to the fees accrued on the basis of
the state of completion of the service.

Voyage costs and other direct operating
costs
Voyage costs (port expenses, bunker fuel consumption
and commissions) are incurred in connection with the
employment of the fleet on the sport market and under
COAs. Voyage costs are recognized in the income
statement as incurred.

Time-charter hire rates paid for chartering vessels are
charged to the income statement on an accruals basis.
Vessel operating costs such as crew, repairs, spares, stores,
insurance, commercial fees and technical fees are
charged to the income statement as incurred. The cost of
lubricants is based on the consumption for the period.

General and administrative costs
General and administrative costs, which include
administrative staff costs, management costs, office
expenses and other expenses relating to administration,
are expensed as incurred.

Financial income and charges
Financial income and charges include interest income on
short-term investments and interest expenses on
borrowings, unrealized and unrealized exchange
differences relating to transactions in currencies other
than the functional currency and other financial income
and charges, such as value adjustments of certain
financial instruments not accounted for as hedging
instruments. Interest is recognized in the income
statement on an accruals basis according to the effective
interest method.

Taxation
The taxes owed by the Parent Company, d'Amico Società
di Navigazione S.p.A., which operates in sectors other
shipping, are calculated according to taxable income for
the year using the local tax rates in effect at the reporting
date. Tax charges are determined on the basis of the net
profit or loss for the year, adjusted to reflect certain non-
taxable or non-deductible elements, and are calculated
according to the tax rate in effect when the financial
statements are prepared.

The Group's main companies operating in the marine
transport sector are based in Ireland and are subject to
the Irish tonnage tax regime. Under the tonnage tax
regime, tax liability is not calculated on the basis of
income and expenses, as in normal corporate taxation,
but rather on the controlled fleet's notional shipping
income, which in turn depends on the controlled fleet's
total net tonnage. The tonnage tax charge is included
within the income tax charge in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred tax, where applicable, is tax that the Group
expects to pay or recover on differences between taxes
receivable and payable carried in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in calculating taxable profit. It is accounted for using
the financial position liability method. Deferred tax
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liabilities are recognized for all temporary taxable
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilized. The carrying amounts of deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each financial position date and
reduced in the event that it is not considered probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the assets to be recovered. Deferred tax is
calculated at the applicable tax rates during the period
when the liability is settled or asset realized. It is charged
or credited in the income statement, unless it relates to
items charged or credited directly to comprehensive
income, in which case the deferred tax is also accounted
for in comprehensive income.

Intangible assets
Goodwill 

The goodwill deriving from business combinations is
measured at cost, net of any cumulative impairment
losses. Accordingly, goodwill is not subject to
amortization, but rather tested for impairment. Minority
interests in the shareholders' equity of an acquiree are
measured at their acquisition date fair value or,
alternatively, at their share of the carrying amount of the
acquiree's net assets. The choice of measurement
method is based on the specific transaction.

Other intangible assets

Other purchased or internally generated intangible
assets are recognized at cost, including directly
attributable auxiliary costs required to render the assets
available for use, provided that it is likely that the use of
the assets will yield future economic benefits and the
cost of the assets may be determined reliably. Such
assets, which have finite useful lives, are measured at
purchase or production cost and amortized on a
straight-line basis according to their estimated useful
lives, which are reviewed on at least an annual basis. Any
changes are applied prospectively. Amortization begins
when an asset becomes available for use. The estimated
useful life of assets in this category is considered to be
three years.

Tangible assets
Vessels

Owned vessels are carried at historical cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Historical cost includes acquisition costs, as well as other
costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction
of the vessel, including interest expenses incurred during
the period of construction based on the loans obtained for
the vessels.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to
estimated residual value according to the estimated useful
lives of the major components of the vessels. New vessels
are generally estimated to have useful lives of 20 years,
depending on their specifications and intended use.
Residual value is estimated as the lightweight tonnage of
each vessel multiplied by the current market scrap value
per ton, which is reassessed every year. Vessel tank coatings
are depreciated over ten years and the dry-dock element
is depreciated over the period to the next expected dry
dock. Residual useful life is estimated at the date of
acquisition or delivery from the shipyard and is periodically
reassessed.

Vessels under construction (newbuilds) are carried at cost
less any identified impairment losses. The cost of newbuilds
includes the instalment payments made through the date
of delivery and other vessel costs incurred during the
construction period, including capitalized interest.
Depreciation commences when a vessel is delivered.

Gains or losses on the disposal of vessels are recognized
when the risks and rewards of ownership of the vessel have
been transferred to the buyer. Such gains or losses are
measured as the sale price net of transaction costs and the
residual carrying amount of the vessel.

Dry-docking costs

To comply with industry certification or governmental
requirements, vessels are required to undergo major
inspections or classification (dry-docking) for major repairs
and maintenance that cannot be carried out while the
vessels are operating. On average, vessels are dry-docked
once every 30 months, depending on the type of work
and requirements. Dry-docking costs, which may also
include some related costs, are capitalized and
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the period until
the next dry-docking. If the next dry-docking of a vessel is
performed less than 30 months from the previous dry-
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docking, the residual value of the previously capitalized
costs is written off.

The initial dry-docking asset for newbuilds and newly
purchased vessels is presented and capitalized separately.
The cost of such assets is estimated on the basis of the
costs required for the next dry-docking.

Impairment

The values of vessels are periodically reviewed in light of
market conditions. The carrying amount of a vessel is tested
for impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recovered through the use
of the vessel. If there is any indication that this is the case,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of impairment. Recoverable
amount is normally defined as the higher of an asset's fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. An asset's value
in use is based on the present value of the estimated future
cash flows over the duration of its residual useful life. Write-
downs are applied to account for any impairment of
vessels. An impairment loss recognized in previous years
may subsequently be reversed if the current estimated
value in use is higher than at the time the impairment loss
was recognized. Management's judgment is critical in
assessing whether events have occurred that may impact
the carrying amounts of the Company's vessels. Future
cash flows are assessed by preparing estimates of future
charter rates, operating costs, residual useful life and
residual value for each vessel. Such estimates are based on
historical trends and future expectations.

Aircraft

Interests in aircraft are recognized at acquisition cost and
depreciated on a straight-line basis over five years on the
basis of possible use and until the residual realizable
value has been exhausted.

Buildings and other tangible assets

Owned buildings and other tangible assets are
recognized at acquisition cost or fair value and
depreciated on a straight-line basis according to their
residual useful lives at the following rates:

Operating leases (charter contracts) and
finance leases
Charter-in and charter-out contracts for vessels, where
the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to
the lessee, are treated as operating leases. Lease
payments and income are recognized to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contractual obligations for the remaining lease period
of charter-in contracts are disclosed as commitments in
the notes to the financial statements.

Assets acquired under finance leases, where
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the Group, are initially recognized as assets
by the Group at the lower of their fair values or the
present value of the minimum payments due, including
any sum to be paid to the lessor to exercise the
purchase option. The corresponding liability is
recognized among financial liabilities. After initial
recognition, such assets are measured according to the
applicable accounting principles.

Inventories
Inventories are recognized at the lesser of cost and net
realizable value. Cost is determined according to the
FIFO method and includes the costs of purchasing,
producing and transforming items and the costs
incurred to bring inventories into their current location
and conditions.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to
financial assets and liabilities or equity instruments of
another entity, as defined in IAS 32 (Financial
Instruments: Presentation) and IAS 39 (Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). Such
instruments are measured at their fair values when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument (the trade date). Liabilities are classified
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements from which they arise and the relevant
definitions of a financial liability. For contracts
negotiated at market price, the fair value of the
instrument is equivalent to the purchase cost (nominal
value of the transaction).

Years

Owned 33 

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 3-8

Leasehold improvements Term of lease 
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The external costs and income from transactions directly
attributable to negotiation, such as intermediation costs,
are included during initial recognition of the instrument,
unless measured at fair value. Financial assets are
measured at fair value or amortized cost, depending on
the characteristics of each instrument. Financial liabilities
are measured on the basis of their amortized cost. Only
derivative instruments are measured at fair value.

‘Fair value’ is the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged, or a liability discharged, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's-length
transaction. Measurement on the basis of amortized
cost involves recognizing the asset or liability at the
value initially measured, deducting any redemption of
equity, increased or decreased by overall depreciation,
applying the effective interest method on any difference
between the initial value and value at maturity. Such
amounts may nonetheless be adjusted to account for
impairment or irrecoverability. The effective interest rate
is the rate that reduces at source the future contractual
cash flows to the net amount of the financial asset or
liability. The calculation also includes the external
expenses and income directly assigned during initial
recognition of the financial instrument. 

The accounting policies adopted for specific assets and
liabilities are presented below.

Equity investments and other financial assets

Equity investments in non-consolidated entities, classified
for accounting purposes as available-for-sale financial
assets, are carried among non-current assets under the
item Equity investments and other financial assets and
are measured at fair value, or, if fair value cannot be
determined reliably, at cost. Gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are recognized directly in
shareholders' equity until the equity investments in
question are disposed of or become impaired. When
either of the foregoing occurs, the total gains or losses
previously recognized in shareholders' equity are credited
or expensed to the income statement for the period. The
original amount is recovered if the grounds for an
impairment loss cease to apply in subsequent years.

Held-for-trading financial assets are measured at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of
financial instruments classified as held for trading are
recognized in the income statement for the period. 

Financial assets and securities possessed with the
intention of holding them to maturity ("held-to-maturity")
that do not meet the conditions for inclusion among cash
and cash equivalents are recognized and derecognized
according to the trade date. Such assets are initially
recognized at fair value and subsequently measured
according to the amortized cost method, less any
impairment losses. 

The fair value of a financial instrument is determined
according to market price quotations or, where such
quotations are not available, estimated according to
appropriate valuation techniques that make use of up-
to-date financial variables employed by market operators,
while also taking account of the prices of recent
transactions involving similar financial instruments, where
possible. 

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at their face
value (which represents the "fair value" of the transaction)
and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, net of
impairment losses recognized in the income statement
where there is objective evidence that an asset has
become impaired. Impairment is calculated as the
difference between the carrying amount and present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
effective interest rate. In the case of short-term trade
receivables in particular, given the brief period of time at
issue, measurement at amortized cost is equivalent to
nominal value, less impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognized when management consider the full
recovery of a receivable to be in doubt. If management
consider the amounts non-recoverable, then they are
written off in their entirety.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, current
accounts and demand deposits held with banks, as well
as other short-term, highly liquid investments readily
convertible to a known amount of cash within six
months, and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair
value, corresponding to their nominal value, or at cost,
plus any interest charges, depending on their nature.

Banks and other lenders

Interest-bearing bank borrowings relating to the
financing of vessels and overdrafts are recognized
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according to the amounts received, net of transaction
costs, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost
according to the effective interest rate method. The
difference between the loan proceeds and nominal value
is recognized in the income statement over the term of
the loan.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are measured at amortized cost,
which is generally equivalent to face value, considering
the characteristics and maturity of such payables.

Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments are used to hedge exposure to the
following types of risks: (a) interest-rate swaps (IRSs)
hedge the risk of fluctuations of interest rates on loans;
(b) forward freight agreements (FFAs) hedge charter rates;
(c) currency options, forward foreign exchange and
futures contracts hedge fluctuations in exchange rates;
and (d) bunker swaps hedge fluctuations in the cost of
fuel for vessels.

In accordance with IAS 39, all derivative instruments are
measured at fair value. They are carried among short-term
receivables or other liabilities.

Pursuant to IAS 39, derivative instruments qualify for
hedge accounting only when at the inception of the
hedge there is a formal designation and documentation
of the hedging relationship, the hedge is expected to be
highly effective, its effectiveness can be reliably measured
and it is highly effective throughout the financial
reporting periods for which the hedge is designated.
When derivative instruments qualify for hedge
accounting, the following accounting treatment applies:

Cash flow hedges - These are derivatives to hedge
exposure to fluctuations in future cash flows arising in
particular from risks relating to changing interest rates on
loans or currency risks relating to loans and commitments
in foreign currencies. Changes in the fair value of the
effective portion of the hedge are recognized in other
comprehensive income, whereas the ineffective portion
is recognized in the income statement. Hedge
effectiveness, i.e. the ability of a hedge to adequately
offset fluctuations caused by the hedged risk, is
periodically tested, in particular by analyzing the
correlation between the fair value of the cash flows from
the hedged item and hedging instrument.

Fair value hedges - Hedging instruments fall within this
category when used to hedge changes in the fair value of
an asset or liability that are attributable to a specific risk.
Changes in value related both to the hedged item, in
relation to changes caused by the underlying risk, and to
the hedging instrument are recognized in the income
statement. Any difference, representing the partial
ineffectiveness of the hedge, therefore corresponds to
the net financial effect.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify
for hedge accounting treatment are recognized directly
in the income statement.

Shared-based payment plan
In accordance with IFRS 2 - Share-based Payment, the
additional benefits granted to employees through
shared-based payment plans (stock-option plans),
where existing, represent a component of the recipients'
remuneration. This cost, corresponding to the fair value
of the options at the grant date, is recognized in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period from the grant date to the vesting date, with the
offsetting credit recognized directly in shareholders'
equity.

Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing
model. The inputs used in the model are based on
management's best estimate for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

Pension and post-employment benefit
liabilities
Liabilities relating to employee benefits paid in the
course of service or thereafter in connection with
defined-benefit plans are calculated separately for each
plan according to actuarial hypotheses by estimating
the amount of the future benefit that has accrued to
employees in exchange for services rendered during the
current and previous years. That benefit is discounted
to determine its present value, while any unrecognized
past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets
are subtracted from the liabilities. The calculation is
performed by an independent actuary using the
projected unit credit method. The Group recognizes all
actuarial gains and losses deriving from defined-benefit
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plans directly and immediately in the income statement.

In defined-contribution plans, the entity's obligation,
which is limited to the payment of contributions to
governmental organizations or a segregated body of
assets or legal entity (a ‘fund’), is determined according
to the contributions owed.

Provisions for risks and charges
Provisions for risks and charges are recognized to
account for costs and expenses the nature of which is
fixed and the existence of which is certain or probable,
but the amount or date of occurrence of which is not
known at the reporting date. Provisions for risks and
charges are recognized when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event and it is likely that
the Group will be required to discharge that obligation,
the amount of which can be estimated reliably.
Provisions are allocated based on the Directors' best
estimate of the costs required to meet the obligation at
the reporting date, and are discounted when the effect
is significant.

Dividends
Dividends payable are reported as a movement in
shareholders' equity in the period in which they are
approved by the general meeting of the shareholders.

Critical accounting judgments and key
estimates
In preparing the financial statements, the Group's
Directors are required to make assessments, estimates
and assumptions that influence the application of
accounting principles and the amounts of assets,
liabilities, costs and revenue. Directors' decisions are
based on past experience and expectations of the
occurrence of future events and are therefore to be
considered reasonable. However, it should be noted
that, since they are in fact estimates, actual results may
differ from the results presented in these financial
statements. The process of preparing estimates involves
the various business areas. Such estimates and
assumptions are revised regularly. Any effects deriving

from the revision of accounting estimates are accounted
for in the period in which the revision is conducted and
the associated subsequent periods. 

It is believed that certain accounting principles are
particularly significant to comprehension of the financial
statements. In this respect, the following is an account
of the areas most extensively affected by such
procedures, as well as of the assumptions employed by
management in the process of assessing the foregoing
line items, in accordance with the above-mentioned
international accounting principles. The critical element
inherent in such estimates is a result of the use of
assumptions and/or professional judgments concerning
matters that are uncertain by nature.

Fleet carrying amount and recoverability - The carrying
amount of the fleet is tested for impairment periodically
or wherever circumstances or events required more
frequent testing. If it is believed that the carrying
amount of the fleet may have become impaired, that
amount is written down to its recoverable amount,
which is estimated on the basis of future use and
disposal, in accordance with the provisions of the most
recent company plans. Estimates of such recoverable
amounts are believed to be reasonable. However,
possible variations in the factors on which the
calculation of the foregoing recoverable amounts is
based could result in different assessments. The analysis
of the recoverability of carrying amounts is unique and
requires management to use estimates and
assumptions deemed prudent and reasonable in
relation to the specific circumstances.

Depreciation period and residual value of the fleet - The
fleet is depreciated over its expected useful life of 20
years, considering the residual value determined on the
basis of the market price of each vessel per ton. The
fleet's residual value and useful life are revised at least
at the end of each period. If expectations differ from
previous estimates, the change is considered a change
of an accounting estimate. Changes in such estimates
may have significant effects on depreciation.

Tax liabilities - Tax liabilities are calculated based on the
Group's specific tax situation, determined on the basis of
the law in force in the countries where the Group
operates. Tax liabilities may be affected by changes in
the treatment or assessment of freight revenue,
withholding tax on charters, tonnage tax and value-
added tax.
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Defined-benefit plans - The expenses and liabilities
associated with such plans are calculated according to
estimates prepared by actuarial consultants who use a
combination of statistical and actuarial factors, including
statistical data concerning previous years and
projections of future costs. Estimation components also
include mortality and withdrawal rates, assumptions
regarding the future discount rate trend, salary growth
rates and an analysis of the year-on-year change in
healthcare costs. Such estimates may diverge materially
from actual results due to the evolution of economic
and market conditions, increases/decreases in
withdrawal rates and the length of participants' lives and
changes in the effective costs of healthcare.

Leases - Lease contracts are classified as operating or
financial at the commencement of the contractual
period and such classified is not subsequently modified.
Classification depends on estimates based on
contractual conditions. In such case, the "substance over
form" approach is adopted. 

Segment information
In accordance with IFRS 8 (Operating Segments), since
the Parent Company's shares are not listed on
regulated markets and there are no ongoing listing
processes, detailed disclosure of the sectors in which
the Parent Company and its subsidiaries operate
(segment information) is not provided in these
financial statements. The report on operations contains
some figures concerning the individual business areas
in which the Group operates, but these do not fall
within the scope of IFRS 8.

New accounting principles  
Accounting policies adopted 

Accounting principles adopted effective 1 January 2011 –
There are no new applicable accounting standards
with respect to those adopted for the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Accounting principles,  amendments and
interpretations not yet in force and not adopted
early by the Company

As at the date of preparation of these financial

statements, the following accounting principles and
associated interpretations applicable to the Company
had been issued by had yet to enter into force:
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfers of
Financial Assets: the Standard prescribes greater
disclosure obligations with respect to transactions
involving the transfer of financial assets. The
amendments in question aim to increase the
transparency of exposures to risks associated with the
transfer of financial assets where the seller partially
retains exposure to such assets. According to these
amendments, transfers of financial assets must be
disclosed even when they are not uniformly
distributed throughout the entire period.
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: the Standard concerns
the recognition and measurement of financial assets in
order to determine whether such assets are to be
carried at amortized cost or fair value and the
accounting treatment of derivatives embedded in
financial assets. The Standard will apply to accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015,
although early adoption is permitted.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements is effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.  The standard establishes the principles for the
presentation and preparation of consolidated financial
statements when an entity controls one or more other
entities. The new standard provides extensive
guidance on applying the principle of control, which
then governs the consolidation of an entity.  The
standard sets out the accounting requirements for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements,
which are unchanged from those that are required by
the current IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements’.  However IAS 27 has been
amended to conform with IFRS 10, and will only apply
to separate financial statements when IFRS 10 is
applied.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements is effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.  The
standard applies to all entities that are a party to a joint
arrangement and will replace IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint
Ventures’.  The accounting treatment is dependent on
the type of joint arrangement, which is determined by
considering the rights and obligations of the investor.
On application of IFRS 11, IAS 28 is amended and
retitled to ‘Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures’.
The Group is party to joint arrangements but as yet
has not assessed the impact the standard will have on
accounting for its joint arrangements.
IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities is
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
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1 January 2013.  The standard requires disclosure of
information on the nature of, and risks associated with,
interests in other entities; and the effects of those
interests on the primary financial statements.  The
disclosures required relate to interests in subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated
structured entities.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: the Standard provides
indications regarding the determination of fair value
where required or permitted by other international
accounting standards and contains further disclosure
obligations that permit users of financial statements
to assess the methods used by entities to conduct fair
value measurements and the effects of such
measurements on financial results. The Standard will
apply to accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, although early adoption is permitted.
Various other IFRSs have been amended by the Annual
Improvements issued in 2011. Except as previously
stated, the amendments not yet in force are unlikely
to have a material impact on the Company's financial
statements.

2. Risk management

The transactions undertaken by the Group in the course
of its operations expose it to a variety of financial risks,
and risk management is an integral part of the Group's
strategy. The shipping sector is highly sensitive to
market fluctuations, which may cause significant
variations in freight rates and vessel prices. The overall
risk management goal is to reduce the Group’s earnings
exposure to cyclical fluctuations.

Market risk
The Group companies that operate in the shipping
sector are exposed to market risk principally in respect
of vessels trading on the spot market and earning
revenue at current market rates. In particular, when
chartering vessels, hire rates may be too high to allow
for profit margins on the use of those vessels on the
market. Conversely, when chartering out vessels to
third parties, hire rates may be too low to ensure an
adequate return. The following risk management
strategies are applied: (i) for the various segments of
the market in which it operates, the Group pursues the
goal of chartering vessels at fixed rates for the
medium/long term (‘hedging’) to an extent that

permits the percentage of its revenue generated by
such contracts to fall between 40% and 60%. The
purpose of this arrangement is to ensure that its
exposure to the spot market does not exceed 60%,
depending on market conditions, rate trends and
expectations; (ii) tanker fleet vessels are partially
employed in pools. This allows the Group to reduce the
impact of specific risks associated with individual
vessels; (iii) vessels trade on a worldwide basis to
reduce the effect of different market conditions and
rates of different routes between the Eastern and
Western hemisphere; and (iv) for its tankers, the Group
directly or via its pools enters into contracts of
affreightment (COAs) at fixed rates, which call for the
shipment of an agreed number of future cargoes at
fixed rates. The Group normally uses derivative
instruments to manage its exposure to spot market
rates for its dry-cargo vessels.

Technical and operational risks
In the shipping sector, the Group is exposed to risk
deriving from fluctuations in the costs associated with
operating its vessels. The key areas of operating risks are
crew, bunkering, dry-docking, repairs and insurance. This
type of risk is managed through the following strategies:
(i) crew policy – is coordinated at the Group level owing
to d'Amico's experience in this area (training school and
Group companies specialized in training services). This
approach allows the Group to achieve synergies and
economies of scale between its various business
segments, while also assessing whether there are
opportunities in the various geographical areas, with the
aim of containing costs while also maintaining high
crew quality. The Safety & Quality (SQE) Department
aims to ensure that vessels and crews operate in full
compliance with external requirements such as
regulations and certifications; (ii) bunkering – the
Group enters into swap contracts for petroleum
products in connection with its fixed-rate
medium/long-term shipping contracts, where deemed
appropriate to hedge the risk deriving from future
fluctuations in bunker fuel prices; (iii) dry-dock
contracts – technical management also includes dry-
dock work and is coordinated at the Group level,
allowing for economies of scale in organizing work and
assessing cost/quality levels. The process of managing
repair costs is similar. The policy of maintaining a young
fleet also contributes to minimizing this risk; (iv) fleet
insurance - adverse events and incidents of various
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kinds may occur in the course of vessel operations and
may give rise to financial losses, including in light of the
international corpus of applicable regulations and
treaties. In order to reduce or eliminate the financial risks
and/or other types of liability to which the Group may
be exposed in such situations, the fleet is insured against
various types of risk. The total insurance programme
provides extensive cover of risk in relation to the
operation of vessels and transport of cargoes, including
the risks of personal injury, environmental damage and
pollution, third-party casualty and liability, hull and
engine damage, total loss and war; and (v) piracy risk –
as a result of the increase in the number of armed
attacks in the waters off the coast of Somalia, and in the
Gulf of Aden in particular, two sets of countermeasures
have been implemented with the aim of: (a) minimizing
risk during transit in the Aden area and increasing
voyage safety; and (b) verifying the suitability of the
insurance structure currently in place to ensure that
events deriving from particular situations enjoy
adequate cover. The Group has identified some
precautions to be applied to its vessels and certain
suppliers. A detailed analysis of the situation has allowed
the d'Amico Group to draw up guidelines that all vessels
must follow when travelling through areas of risk.
Moreover, in order to obtain as much information as
possible and remain up-to-date on the issue, websites
devoted to the piracy problem are systematically
monitored. On the matter of the related insurance
issues, it has been determined that main piracy risks are
already covered under the existing policies. 

Foreign-exchange risk
The Group operates at an international level and in
sectors in which transactions are undertaken in various
currencies, and is thus exposed to risk deriving from the
fluctuation of exchange rates for transactions
denominated in certain currencies (such as U.S. Dollars,
Euro, Japanese yen). The exposure to the risk of 
changes in exchange rates is periodically and
systematically assessed, and management of this risk is
based on the use of certain derivative instruments in
accordance with the Group's policies in this area. In
further detail, fair-value and/or cash-flow hedging is
primarily undertaken through the use of instruments
such as forward contracts and currency options. The
purpose of such transactions is to fix the exchange rate at
which outstanding and/or projected transactions in
foreign currencies are to be recognized. The

counterparties to such contracts are a differentiated
group of leading financial institutions.

Interest rates
The Group is exposed to interest-rate risk deriving from
the fact that interest on its lines of credit and bank
deposits accrues at variable rates. Strategies for
managing this risk, which aim to achieve a financing
structure characterized by a pre-determined, optimal
mix of variable and fixed rates, involve the use of
derivative instruments such as interest-rate swap (IRS)
contracts. Management believe that fixing the interest
on a portion of the Group's borrowings will make it easier
to predict future interest costs, until a level deemed
appropriate to the Group is achieved, thereby allowing it
to reduce the risk of significant fluctuations in interest
rates. Such transactions are periodically and
systematically reviewed and confirmed. Management
continuously review the interest rates available on the
market to ensure that the Group's credit facilities are
competitive.

Liquidity risk
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk deriving from the
possible mismatch between cash requirements,
principally to purchase vessels and repay credit facilities,
and operating cash flow. To minimize that risk, the
Group maintains adequate credit facilities and standby
credit lines in order to respond to any such situations.
Management regularly reviews the Group's credit
facilities and cash requirements.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk resulting from
possible default by its counterparties, primarily clients
and agents. The policy for managing this risk is based
on the following instruments: (i) the client portfolio is
analyzed and systematically assessed and outstanding
trade receivables are reviewed in a timely manner; (ii)
payments to service providers and fuel suppliers are
scheduled in such a way as to minimize credit risk,
whereas advances paid to shipyards with which orders
have been placed to construct ships are covered by
appropriate bank performance guarantees; (iii) the
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Group's policy is to have dealings only with large banks
enjoying strong credit ratings specialized in the Group's
sectors of operation; and (iv) the Group monitors its
overall contractual exposure.

Fraud risk
The Group is exposed to the risk of fraud deriving from the
significant volume and value of the transactions
undertaken. The following risk-management strategies are
adopted to minimize this risk: (i) limits of powers and
authority; (ii) controls over bank signing authority; (iii)
controls over tendering processes; (iv) the Board of
Statutory Auditors supervises the internal control, internal
audit and risk management systems; and (v) the Parent
Company, d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A has
complied with the provisions of Legislative Decree 231 of
8 June 2001, which provides that companies and entities
are liable for certain crimes committed by their directors or
employees, by formally adopting the Organization,
Management and Control Model prescribed therein, as
well as by establishing a Supervisory Board. Decree
231/2001 provides that companies are liable for crimes
committed in their interest or to their benefit by persons
in ‘senior’ positions. The Decree provides for the
implementation of a compliance programme that aims to
develop an organic, structured system of procedures, rules
and controls to be put into practice both preventively and
subsequently in order to reduce and prevent to a material
extent the risk of commission of the various types of
crimes.

3. Capital disclosure

The objectives pursued by the d'Amico Group in
managing its capital are:

• to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it may continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders; and 

• to provide an adequate return for shareholders by
operating on the spot/time-charter market,
balancing its level of commercial risk.

In addition to equity, the Company's capital structure
principally comprises various lines of credit and bank
borrowings. The Group's capital structure is periodically
reviewed and, where necessary, adjusted to suit the

Group's capital requirements, changes in general
economic conditions and industry risk characteristics. In
this respect, the Group continuously monitors its capital
position on the basis of the assets cover ratio for its
borrowings in comparison to the market value of its
owned vessels subject to mortgages securing credit
facilities. As an additional measure of monitoring risk
associated with its debt structure, the Group monitors its
debt-to-equity ratio. 

4. Revenue

As mentioned above, the Group's core business (81%)
involves the use of vessels in the shipping sector,
whereas the remainder relates to the services rendered
by the Group, chiefly in the maritime sector (principally
telecommunications – 15.6%).

5. Operating costs 

Operating costs include those typical of the maritime
sector. In particular, direct voyage costs are operating
costs associated with the use (directly or in partnerships)
of fleet vessels on voyages undertaken under spot
contracts and COAs (contracts of affreightment).
Revenue arising from time-charter contracts does not
include direct voyage costs. Such costs relate to
bunkering and port expenses.
Time charter hire costs represent the cost of medium-
/long-term charter-in contracts for vessels in the Group's
fleet.

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Marine transport

• Dry-cargo and container 
vessels 345,845 422,796

• Tankers 228,559 233,922

Services 135,942 131,976

TOTAL 710,346 788,694

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Direct voyage costs 174,848 167,298

Time charter hire costs 204,281 214,995

Other operating costs 100,962 103,038

TOTAL 480,091 485,331



Other direct operating costs include the costs of
seagoing personnel (crews), technical expenses,
technical management and quality control and other
ship operating costs, such as insurance. The item also
includes the operating costs incurred by companies that
render maritime services (such as the costs of port
services, maritime brokerage and insurance costs).

Personnel

As at 31 December 2011, the Group employed a
workforce of 980 seagoing personnel and 583 onshore
personnel. As at the end of the previous year, the Group
employed a workforce of 944 seagoing personnel and
551 onshore personnel. The cost of onshore personnel
is included in general and administrative costs.

6. General and administrative costs 

Personnel costs relate to the personnel of all companies
within the scope of consolidation not employed aboard
vessels. Other general and administrative costs comprise
consultancy, office operating expenses and other costs
of an administrative nature, including those incurred by
Telemar to conduct its business. It should be noted that
other costs include the remuneration of directors of
Group companies in the amount of Euro 7.5 million
(Euro 6.2 million in the previous year). For the Parent
Company, the costs of emoluments incurred in 2011
amounted to Euro 1.1 million.

Other general costs also include impairment and losses
on receivables (Euro 3 million). 

7. Income / (expenses) on the disposal
of fixed assets

The income earned in 2011 refers almost exclusively to
the proceeds of the sale of vessels, and in particular the
sale of the M/n Medi Cork by d'Amico Dry Limited and
the M/t High Century by d’Amico Tankers Limited.

8. Financial income, financial charges
and foreign-exchange gains / (losses)

The balance of the item is broken down in the following
table:

Financial income includes not only interest accrued on
current accounts and bank deposits, but also income
arising from the management of investment portfolios of
short-term financial resources, primarily attributable to
the sub-holding company d'Amico International SA,
which comprise mutual funds, bonds and shares.

Financial charges refer mainly to interest expenses
accrued on bank borrowings contracted to finance the
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(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Personnel costs 47,564 45,584

Other general and 
administrative costs 95,479 87,371

TOTAL 143,043 132,955

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

TOTAL 15,018 12,665

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

TOTAL (20,172) (10,113)

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Financial income

Bank interest income 1,618 780

Interest on sundry receivables 15 90

Investment income 303 7,720

Dividend income 1,290 544

TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME 3,226 9,134

Financial charges

Bank interest expenses (38) (123)

Interest on borrowings (13,981) (11,820)

Other financial charges (7,753) (1,926)

TOTAL FINANCIAL CHARGES (21,772) (13,869)

Translation differences

Gains 14,999 8,073

Losses (16,625) (13,451)

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE
GAINS / (LOSSES) (1,626) (5,378)

TOTAL FINANCIAL 
INCOME / (CHARGES) (20,172) (10,113)
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construction of owned vessels. Other financial charges
largely pertain to negative results associated with the
management of the aforementioned short-term
investment portfolios. 

Translation differences arise from the recognition of
amounts paid and collected during the year and
adjustments to items in foreign currencies – other than
the functional currency of each entity within the Group –
that continued to be carried at the end of 2011.

9. Income taxes  

The Group companies that operate in the maritime
sector, most of which are based in Italy and Ireland, are
subject to the tonnage tax regime, meaning that their
taxable profits are determined on a lump-sum basis
according to the tonnage of their vessels. The total
allocation recognized in 2011 in connection with such
current income tax came to Euro 496 thousand. The
residual balance of current income taxes refers to those

components of income beyond the scope of the
tonnage tax regimen, and thus subject to ordinary
income tax rates.

The Parent Company is subject to the Italian tax code
and the ordinary tax rate that applies to its taxable profit
is 27.50%. Differences between the tax charges
recognized in the consolidated income statement and
the notional tax charge calculated according to the
ordinary corporate income tax (IRES) rate in effect in Italy
are essentially due to the circumstance that subsidiaries
operating in the marine transport sector are subject to
the tonnage tax regime. Accordingly, there is not
believed to be a need to prepare a detailed statement of
reconciliation of actual recognized income taxes and
the income taxes calculated according to the rate
theoretically applicable to the Parent Company.

Losses carried forward

d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. has cumulative
losses eligible to be carried forward, on the basis of the
tax returns filed, that will yield a tax savings of Euro 0.3
million at the time of their use. In addition to the Parent
Company, the subsidiaries (sub-holding companies)
d’Amico International S.A and d’Amico International
Shipping S.A. have a total of Euro 71.7 million in losses
eligible to be carried forward. The latter two companies
are both resident in Luxembourg and the theoretical
applicable corporate tax rate is 30%.

(Thousands of euro) 2011 2010

Current income taxes 6,800 5,596

Prior-year taxes (108) (1,628)

Deferred taxes 363 (3,212)

TOTAL 7,055 756
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10. Intangible assets 

The following is an account of movements during the year:

Along with other insignificant values, goodwill
originated primarily from the consolidation of the
subsidiary Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A., the value
of which (Euro 5.8 million) has been tested for
impairment. Such testing takes the form of determining
fair value, less any costs to sell. In conducting that test,
reference was made to the market multiples of
competitors operating in the same sector. Those
multiples, namely enterprise value (EV)/EBITDA, were
used to determine the recoverable amount of the

Telemar cash-generating unit. The sector's EV/EBITDA
ratio was found to be between 3 and 7. The unit's
recoverable amount was estimated on a conservative
basis by using the lower limit of 3. That test did not
detect any elements that would have required an
impairment loss on the carrying amount of goodwill.

The other intangible assets refer primarily to the
software, which is amortized over a period of three
years.

11. Tangible assets

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 8,642 8,810

Goodwill Consolidation Other assets Total
difference

Net book value

AS AT 1 JANUARY 2011 6,723 1,644 443 8,810

Additions - - 127 127

Disposals - - (68) (68)

Amortization and impairment for the year (238) (287) (183) (708)

Other changes 547 (74) 24 497

Exchange differences (16) - - (16)

Net book value

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 7,016 1,283 343 8,642

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 924,904 779,676
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Tangible assets comprise:

Fleet and vessels under construction

The increases during 2011 relate in particular to the
purchase of tankers: the M/t High Century (then resold later
in 2011), Glenda Meryl, Glenda Melissa, Glenda Melody (all
proportionally capitalized at 50%), Cielo di Roma and Cielo
di Milano (both formerly employed on bare-boat basis). The
foregoing was in addition to the purchases of the dry-cargo
vessels the Cielo di Dublino, Cielo di San Francisco, Cielo di
Agadir and Medi Vitoria.

The balance also includes the costs of the fleet’s dry-dock
programmes and the capitalized amounts of payments to
shipyards on the basis of the state of completion of
construction work on six dry-cargo vessels and five tankers.
Disposals relate to the aforementioned M/T High Century
and the dry-cargo vessel M/T Medi Cork. As at 31 December
2011, capitalized amounts referring to vessels under
construction amounted to Euro 73.5 million, in connection
with two tankers and four dry-cargo vessels. 

Impairment test

Net carrying amounts have been reviewed to ensure that
the assets have not become impaired. Recoverable
amount is defined as the higher of an asset's fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use. An asset's value in use is
based on the present value of the estimated future cash
flows over the duration of its residual useful life.

In order to conduct impairment tests, estimates prepared
by management take account of available market

information, including figures concerning sales of similar
vessels and future projections, based on the following key
assumptions: (i) revenue is estimated on the basis of
contracts signed recently and estimates of future rates; (ii)
a residual useful life of 20 years; (iii) the projected economic
value at the end of the asset’s useful life; (iv) costs reflect
d'Amico's current structure; and (v) figures are discounted
at a rate of 6.0%, representative of the Group's current and
projected weighted average cost of capital profile, taking
account of the current cost of borrowings and the return
on equity. 

No impairment losses have been recognized inasmuch as
values in use of vessels have been found to be significantly
in excess of their net carrying amounts. The Company’s
management takes account of the fact that such
calculations are especially sensitive to changes in key
assumptions concerning future charter values and
discount rates. The total market value of the fleet, according
to the appraisal conducted by a well regarded naval-sector
broker at the end of December 2011, is USD 866 million.

Land and buildings

This item includes properties used in operations, including
those acquired under finance lease. The significant increase
shown in 2011 was due to the purchase by the Parent
Company of a property located in central Rome (Via Paisiello).  

Other assets

Other assets include various items of office equipment, and
in particular furniture and fixtures, computers and other
electronic machines and motor vehicles.

Fleet Land and buildings Other assets Total

Net book value

AS AT 1 JANUARY 2011 740,213 34,425 5,038 779,676

Additions 146,559 58,926 814 206,299

Disposals (46,105) - (474) (46,579)

Depreciation for the year (34,636) (1,932) (910) (37,478)

Reclassifications and other changes (227) (97) 297 (27)

Exchange differences 23,047 219 (253) 23,013

Net book value

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 828,851 91,541 4,512 924,904

The following table presents changes during 2011:





12. Long-term investments  

The carrying amount of the item refers to certain long-term investments in other enterprises held almost exclusively
by the Parent Company, as presented in the following table, which also illustrates changes in such investments
during the year and percent interests held as at 31 December 2011:

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 81,743 60,773

(Thousands of euro) As at 1  Changes As at 31  % 
January Acquisitions/ Measurement December interest  

2011 (disposals) at FV 2011

Company name

Tamburi investments Partners S.p.A. 16,949 2,485 1,824 21,258 10.38%

ClubTre S.r.l. 26,716 12,253 38,969 32.50%

Datalogic S.p.A. 7,173 1,176 (345) 8,004 2.38%

Sator S.p.A. 2,800 2,800 1.09%

Sator Private Equity Funds 1,991 203 2,194 -

Banca Profilo S.p.A. 675 (307) 368 0.22%

Venice Shipping & Logistic S.p.A. 1,177 1,863 3,040 28.42%

Civita Servizi S.r.l. 905 555 1,460 15.77%

Gruppo Banco Popolare - 2,635 (1,197) 1,438 0.08%

Other 2,387 (175) 2,212

TOTAL 60,773 20,995 (25) 81,743

Equity investments are part of the Parent Company's
financial activity of a strategic nature, developed in
recent years with the aim of undertaking qualified
investments in enterprises operating primarily in sectors
other than shipping. Those investments have been
undertaken through the use of cash in hand. The
investments in listed companies are evaluated at fair
value and showed in the previous table: no evaluation
has been made for not listed companies.

During 2011, DSN made payments in various capacities
to associates, and namely to ClubTre S.r.l. and Venice
Shipping & Logistic S.p.A., for a total of Euro 14.1 million. 

As discussed in the report on operations:

ClubTre S.r.l., the majority shareholder of which is
Tamburi Investment Partners S.p.A., holds an interest
of over 6% in Prysmian S.p.A., a global leader in
cables and high-tech systems for energy
transmission and telecommunications;
Venice Shipping & Logistic S.p.A. is an Italian company

incorporated in September 2009 with the aim of
undertaking investment transactions in the shipping
and shipping logistics sectors.

There was an increase of approximately Euro 6 million
in equity investments in other companies, primarily
involving Tamburi Investment Partners S.p.A. (Euro 2.5
million) and Banco Popolare Società Cooperativa A.R.L.
(Euro 2.6 million):

Tamburi Investment Partners S.p.A. is an independent
merchant bank listed on the Milan Stock Exchange
and focused on medium-sized Italian companies.
The equity interest came to 10.38% as at 31
December 2011; 
Datalogic S.p.A., listed on the Milan Stock Exchange,
is one of the world's leading producers of bar-code
readers, mobile computers for data collection, RFID
systems and automatic viewing systems and offers
solutions for applications in manufacturing,
transport, logistics and retail. The equity interest
came to 2.38% as at 31 December 2011.

•

•

•

•
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Other non-current financial assets include tax credits
from previous years, in addition to the positive fair value

of derivatives contracts (for 2010 only).

The amounts presented below include Euro 31.7 million
in stocks of intermediate fuel oil (IFO) and marine diesel oil
(MDO), as well as stores of Luboil on vessels. The residual

balance of Euro 6 million refers to the inventories of
contract work in progress and the raw materials of
Telemar and its subsidiaries.

The change in trade receivables during the year should
be viewed in light of the revenue performance and

working capital dynamics. The carrying amount is net of
a total of Euro 2.2 million in impairment losses. 

As at 31 December 2011, current financial assets refer
solely to short-term investments of liquidity in short-
term and/or negotiable securities and instruments. In
further detail, the carrying amount includes, at their
market values, various portfolios of mutual funds, bonds,

equities and other securities, primarily held by d’Amico
International S.A., for a total amount of Euro 153.8
million, a figure that does not diverge significantly from
the balance at the end of the previous year. 

13. Other non-current financial assets  

14.  Inventories

15. Receivables and other current assets

16. Current financial assets

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 865 2,093

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 37,671 32,561

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

Trade receivables 149,621 150,171

Other debtors 6,046 3,371

Prepayments and accrued income 3,250 1,832

TOTAL 158,917 155,374

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 166,772 156,755
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The item primarily comprises short-term bank deposits
in the amount of Euro 184.2 million. The residual balance
pertains to cash in hand. 

The item refers chiefly to short-term deposits and
includes Euro 4.5 million in cash held with pool

companies (High Pool Tankers Ltd and Glenda
International Management Ltd), distributed to the pool
participants in January 2012. The balance also includes
the sum of Euro 1.9 million securing the loan granted
by Mizuho (d'Amico Tankers Limited).

17. Cash and cash equivalents

18. Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

The authorized and paid-in share capital of d’Amico
Società di Navigazione S.p.A. came to Euro 25 million
and is divided into 10 million shares with a par value of
Euro 2.5 each. 

Retained earnings

This item includes the various reserves (the legal reserve,
extraordinary reserve and retained earnings reserve) to 

Other reserves

Other reserves include the following items:

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time, have equal
voting and dividend rights and rank equally with regard
to the Company’s residual assets.

which net profit has been allocated over the years, net
of dividends distributed.

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 184,599 248,301

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

Share capital 25,000 25,000

Retained earnings 804,436 687,263

Other reserves (18,674) (19,129)

Net profit 24,265 127,239

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - PARENT 835,027 820,373
Capital and reserves – Non-controlling interest 95,687 98,552

Net profit - Non-controlling interest (2,280) (2,495)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 928,434 916,430

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

Cash-flow hedging reserve (9,408) (7,093)

Fair-value reserve (377) (143)

Translation and consolidation reserve (8,889) (11,892)

TOTAL (18,674) (19,129)
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19. Provisions for risks and charges

The item refers to allocations to provisions for risks or litigation relating to certain ongoing labour suits or disputes. 

20. Provisions for employee benefits 

The following table presents the change in actuarial liabilities during the year and a reconciliation of those
actuarial liabilities with the carrying amounts of liabilities as at 31 December 2011:

The cash-flow hedging reserve (fair value of derivatives
/ cash flow hedges) and the fair-value reserve for
available-for-sale financial assets include, respectively,
the effects of the measurement of cash-flow hedging
contracts, recognized among other financial assets and
liabilities (notes 13, 16, 22 and 24) and the effects of
the measurement of equity investments at fair value
(note 12).

The translation and consolidation reserve refers to
differences relating to the translation of financial

statements in foreign currencies and differences
deriving from the elimination of shareholders' equity
against the respective equity interests.

Non-controlling interests

The net profit and shareholders' equity attributable to
non-controlling interest relate chiefly to Compagnia
Generale Telemar S.p.A. (42%), Mida Maritime Company
Limited (49%) and d’Amico International Shipping S.A.
(35%). 

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 671 679

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 5,322 4,974

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011

Actuarial liability at the beginning of the year 4,974

Normal cost 278

Financial charges 93

Disbursements (163)

Unrecognized actuarial gains / (losses) 140

RECOGNIZED LIABILITY AS AT YEAR-END 5,322

The following is a presentation of the key assumptions employed in preparing an actuarial estimate of the
employee-benefit liability as at 31 December 2011: 

Severance indemnities

Discount rate Government rate curve

Inflation rate 2%

Staff turnover rate 5%

Mortality rate ISTAT 2002

End-of-service benefits

Inflation rate 0%

Discount rate Government rate curve 
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21. Banks and other lenders 

The following table shows outstanding loans:

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

Non-current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 401,991 315,121

Current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 36,568 26,467

TOTAL 438,559 341,588

(Thousands of euro) As at 30 December 2011
Currency Non-current Current Total

Intesa S.Paolo USD 6,338 1,005 7,343 

Meliorbanca USD 20,096 1,546 21,642 

Credit Agricole USD 8,417 866 9,283 

Credit Agricole USD 115,520 - 115,520

Mizuho USD 33,784 5,150 38,934 

Commerbank-Credit Suisse USD 56,718 5,084 61,802 

Mitsubishi UFJ Lease USD 19,847 2,565 22,412 

ABN Ambro Bank USD 8,234 1,347 9,581 

Unicredit USD 6,647 927 7,574 

Banca Popolare di Lodi USD 11,321 1,096 12,417 

Banca Popolare di Lodi USD 9,584 927 10,511 

Banca Popolare di Lodi USD 8,231 654 8,885 

Compagnie Monegasque de Banque EUR 3,385 220 3,605 

Unicredit Leasing EUR 1,696 315 2,011 

MPS Leasing EUR 1,877 115 1,992 

BNP YEN 18,515 1,587 20,102 

Monte dei Paschi di Siena USD 20,598 1,546 22,144 

Banco Popolare USD 9,723 - 9,723 

Credit Agricole DNB USD 8,166 - 8,166 

Banco di Brescia EUR 33,294 1,370 34,664 

Other minor overdrafts - 10,248 10,248  

TOTAL 401,991 36,568 438,559

Bank debt consists largely of medium-/long-term
borrowings contracted by companies operating in the
shipping industry to purchase fleet vessels. The item
includes Euro 192.3 million in floating-rate loans, on
which interest is payable with a spread of 45 to 210 basis
points over the benchmark, generally the Libor or
Euribor. Interest-rate swap (IRS) contracts have been
entered into in order to fix the interest rates associated
with some of the foregoing loan agreements. The item

also includes a total of Euro 230.1 million in fixed-rate
loans, which bear interest at rates that range from 4% to
5.85%. The remainder (approximately Euro 10 million) is
related to bank overdrafts.

The foregoing loans include the following financing
disbursed in 2011:

financing for naval investments – Banca Popolare di
Lodi (Euro 8,885), Monte dei Paschi (Euro 22,144),

-
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22. Other non-current financial liabilities

The carrying amount includes the amount payable (Euro 6
million) by the subsidiary Mida Maritime Company Ltd. to
Mitsui & Co. Ltd. and the negative fair value measurements

of certain derivative financial instruments contracted by
the Group (Euro 2.4 million).

23. Short-term payables and other current liabilities

As at 31 December 2011, short-term payables and other
current liabilities primarily consisted of trade payables

structural to the Group’s business. 

24. Other current financial liabilities

The item refers solely to the negative fair value of
hedging derivative instruments. For a summary of the

derivatives outstanding as at year-end and the fair
values of those derivatives, please refer to note 26.

25. Current tax liabilities

The balance essentially consists of current income taxes,
including the tonnage tax owed by various Group

companies as at year-end. 

Banco Popolare (Euro 9,723) and Credit Agricole DNB
(Euro 8,166); and
the financing for the property located in Via Paisiello
purchased by the Parent Company – Banco di
Brescia (Euro 34,664).

Loans are subject to the customary collateral conditions,
such as mortgages of the financed property, and some
legal covenants, particularly as regards the ratio of the
vessel's market value to the amount of the loan. 

-

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 8,437 1,442

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

Trade payables 141,404 139,149

Other creditors 10,661 10,262

Accruals and deferred income 15,210 12,511

TOTAL 167,275 161,922

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 11,252 14,286

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTALE 2,714 1,664
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The fair values of derivative contracts are calculated
according to the market quotations supplied by leading
counterparties or, in the absence of market information,
on the basis of appropriate valuation techniques
generally adopted in the finance industry.

During the year, there were no substantial changes in
the type of derivative instruments used and the
volumes of derivatives transactions undertaken.

The changes in the fair value of the effective portion of
hedging derivatives classified as cash-flow hedges are
recognized in shareholders' equity (Other reserves) and
presented in the statement of comprehensive income,
whereas the ineffective portion of the hedge is
recognized in the income statement. For hedging
instruments defined as fair-value hedges, changes in
value associated with both the hedged item (in relation
to changes determined by the underlying risk) and the

hedging instrument are recognized in the income
statement. Any difference, representing the partial
ineffectiveness of the hedge, therefore corresponds to
the net financial effect.

The fair value of non-hedging derivative contracts (HFT)
refers to those contracts that do not meet the formal
requirements for hedge accounting treatment
according to IFRSs and that have not been formally
designated as hedges inasmuch as they have been
contracted for amounts corresponding to the overall
(‘net’) exposure, primarily exchange-rate and interest-
rate risks, and thus are not attributable to specific
commercial or financial transactions. Changes in the fair
values of such derivative instruments are recognized
directly in the income statement.

26. Derivative instruments

The following table specifies the various types of
derivative instruments used by the Group and their

accounting treatment in the 2011 and 2010 financial
statements. 

(Thousands of euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010
Fair value Euro Euro

Positive fair value Negative fair value Positive fair value Negative fair value 

Fair value through profit or loss

Forward charter derivatives / FFAs 2,337 - 920 -

Forward currency transactions 4,981 - - (1,642)

Currency options - (1,185) 887 -

Interest rate derivatives - (1,561) - (2,337)

7,318 (2,746) 1,807 (3,979)

At fair value through equity

Forward charter derivatives / FFAs - (60) - (290)

Forward bunker purchase derivatives 698 - - (13)

Interest rate derivatives - (12,081) - (9,663)

698 (12,141) - (9,966)
TOTAL 8,016 (14,887) 1,807 (13,945)

Recognized among:

Other non-current financial assets - - 1,208 -

Other non-current financial liabilities - (2,390) - (1,245)

Other current financial assets 6,771 - 1,775 -

Other non-current financial liabilities - (11,252) - (13,876)

6,771 (13,642) 2,983 (15,121)
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27. Information on financial risk

As disclosed in note 2, Risk management, the d'Amico
Group is exposed to some financial risks associated with
its operations. This section provides qualitative and
quantitative disclosure on the effect that those risks may
have on the Group.

Market risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of financial
instruments may fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices. The Group's investment portfolio is
therefore susceptible to market price risk deriving from
uncertainties regarding future prices. 

The Group employs derivative instruments known as
‘forward freight agreements’ or ‘FFAs’ (the ‘paper market’)
to hedge market fluctuations (the ‘physical market’), as
limited to certain voyages by dry-cargo vessels.
Management constantly monitors open positions in
such instruments. An increase/decrease in the prices of
FFAs of 5% as at 31 December 2011 would have resulted
in an increase/decrease in the Group's revenue and
assets of Euro 0.1 million.

In some cases, the Group enters into bunker-hedging or
fuel-swap contracts to fix the price of fuel with the aim
of mitigating the effect of fluctuations in the price of the
fuel used by vessels (known as ‘bunker fuel’). As at 31
December 2011, a 5% change in the price of bunker fuel
would have resulted in a change in operating costs of
Euro 0.47 million.

The Group's investments in current financial assets are
exposed to the risk of fluctuations in the market prices
of securities. An increase in market price of 5% at the
end of 2011 would have resulted in an increase in
financial income of Euro 7.1 million (Euro 3.0 million in
2010), whereas a decrease of 5% would have had a
similar impact in reducing income. An identical
fluctuation of 5% in the market price of securities would
have caused an effect of Euro 1.8 million on
shareholders' equity reserves and comprehensive
income (Euro 1.7 million in 2010) for long-term
investments.

Foreign-exchange risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk in respect of
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The

Group monitors its exposure to currency risk on a
regular basis. Management does not consider the Group
to have significant exposure to foreign-exchange risk
from operating activities inasmuch as all of the Group's
revenue, and most of its operating costs, are
denominated in U.S. Dollars. 

As at 31 December 2011, an appreciation or
depreciation of the Japanese yen by 5% against the U.S.
dollar, all other variables being assumed to remain
constant, would have resulted in an increase of USD 2.6
million or a decrease of USD 2.9 million, respectively.

Foreign-exchange risk is chiefly associated with cash
flows denominated in Japanese yen in connection with
bank borrowings and purchase agreements of several
dry-cargo vessels entered into directly in that currency.
As at 31 December 2011, an appreciation or
depreciation of the Japanese yen by 5% against the
euro, all other variables being assumed to remain
constant, would have resulted in an increase or
decrease in net profit and shareholders' equity of Euro
2.2 million. 

A significant portion of the Group's operations are in U.S.
dollars, with the resulting exposure to the fluctuation of
exchange rates. In this respect, an increase in the
exchange rate of 5% would have resulted in an effect of
Euro 1.0 million (positive/negative) on net profit. 

Interest-rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest-rate risk arising from
the fact that interest accrued on its credit facilities and
bank deposits at variable rates and interest-rate swap
(IRS) contracts are measured according to expected
future rates. If all other conditions had remained
constant, an increase in interest rates of 100 basis points
would have resulted in an increase in net financial
charges of Euro 2.8 million, whereas a decrease of 100
basis points would have yielded a positive effect of Euro
2 million. As at 31 December 2011, if interest rates had
been 1% higher or lower and all other variables had
remained constant, the measurement of swaps would
have resulted in an increase or decrease in shareholders'
equity of Euro 4.9 million. Since such derivative
instruments are treated as cash-flow hedges for
accounting purposes, there would have been no effect
on the income statement.
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Credit risk 

The Group is exposed to credit risk resulting from
possible default by its counterparties, primarily clients.
The credit risk associated with clients essentially relates
to short-term demurrage receivables and some charter
expenses relating to tanker operations. Trade receivables
are analyzed and impaired, as necessary, on an
individual basis. The total specific provision came to Euro
2.2 million as at 31 December 2011 (unchanged
compared to 2010). The Group holds significant cash
deposits with leading, highly rated financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk arising from the
possible mismatch between cash requirements,
principally to purchase vessels, and credit facility
repayments and cash flows. Information concerning
credit facilities is presented in note 21, while the details
of commitments are set out in note 30. Management
believes that the currently available funds and major
lines of credit, along with the cash provided by
operating activities, will allow the Group to satisfy its
requirements from investing activities and working
capital needs and discharge its obligations to repay its
debts at their natural due dates.

Fair-value risk

Management believes that the fair values of financial
assets and liabilities do not diverge significantly from
their carrying amounts as at the reporting date. 

28. Classification of financial
instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are
classified into the three hierarchical levels described
below according to the relevance of the information
(inputs) used in determining their fair values. In further
detail:

level 1: this level includes financial assets and
liabilities the fair values of which are determined
according to unmodified prices quoted on active
markets for similar assets or liabilities;
level 2: this level includes financial assets and
liabilities the fair values of which are determined on
the basis of inputs other than the quoted prices
used in level 1, but that may be observed directly or

indirectly on the market for such assets and liabilities;
level 3: this level includes financial assets and
liabilities the fair values of which are determined on
the basis of non-observable market data.

The following table provides a summary of the
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
outstanding as at 31 December 2011, broken down by
classification according to the fair-value hierarchy
described above:

29. Related-party transactions

Neither d'Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. nor its
subsidiaries undertook material transactions with
related parties in 2011 or the previous year. 

30. Guarantees, commitments and
contingencies

Investment commitments

The Group's investment commitments amounted to
Euro 173 million as at 31 December 2011, of which Euro
69 million was associated with payments set to come
due in the next 12 months. 

The financial commitments presented above are
associated with shipbuilding contracts for six vessels:
two 46,000 DWT product/chemical tankers set to be
delivered in March/April 2012 and two Handysize and
two Minicape vessels to be delivered at regular intervals
from 2012 to 2015. In addition, the item includes the

•

Type of instrument Level

Interest-rate swaps 1

Interest-rate swaps, currency options, 
currency forwards, forward freight 
agreements and bunker swaps 2

(Thousands of euro) As at  As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

Up to one year 68,775 61,365  

From one to five years 103,822 138,157 

Beyond five years - -  

TOTAL 172,597 199,522 •

•
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amount of Euro 10.7 million associated with the
commitment entered into by the Parent Company with
respect to the Domas acquisition, the payment for
which was made in January 2012.

In addition to the items presented in the table, the
Group's commitments also include Euro 7.8 million in
commitments (‘on call’) associated with subscription to
additional units of the private-equity fund Sator by the
Parent Company.

Operating leases - chartered-in vessels 

As at 31 December 2011, the Group's minimum
commitments for operating leases came to Euro 620.7
million, of which Euro 127.8 million was associated with
payments in the next 12 months. 

The amounts presented above also include the values of
certain vessels the charter-in agreements for which
establish future purchase options for those vessels. The
options in question are not eligible for treatment as
derivatives. Commitments due beyond five years
mature no later than 2021.

Other operating leases

Other operating leases primarily comprise office lease
contracts in the amount of Euro 6.5 million (Euro 5
million in 2010).

Ongoing disputes

The Group is currently involved in a number of ongoing
commercial disputes concerning both owned and

chartered vessels. Most current disputes relate to cargo
contamination claims. In addition, there are some
collision claims and disputes relating to time-charter
contracts. Disputes are mostly covered by insurance
provided by P&I Club (a mutual ship-owners club). The
Group therefore believes that its financial exposure will
be limited to the value of the appropriate insurance
policy deductibles.

Tonnage tax deferred taxation

According to the Irish tonnage tax regime, to which the
Group's shipping companies resident in Ireland have
been admitted, if vessels are sold and not replaced
within the specified time limit or the Company fails to
continue to comply with the requirements to remain
within the regime, the tax authorities may seek to
recover the taxes owed under the ordinary regime. No
provision has been made for such circumstances,
inasmuch as no liability is reasonably expected to arise
in this connection.

(Thousands of euro) As at  As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

Up to one year 127,790 120,044 

From one to five years 312,015 329,580 

Beyond five years 180,926 155,780   

TOTAL 620,731 605,404 

(Thousands of euro) As at  As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

Up to one year 1,583 2,142 

From one to five years 4,379 2,711 

Beyond five years 502 193 

TOTAL 6,464 5,046
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31. List of companies belonging to the d’Amico Società di Navigazione Group 

The following table presents the complete list of Group companies, along with the following information for each
company: the interest held directly and/or indirectly by d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A, the consolidation
method adopted, registered office and share capital.

Company name Consolidation City or   Share Percent interest  Percent interest   
method country capital held by Parent   held by 

in Euro Company minorities

d'Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. (a) Line-by-line Palermo 15,000,000 100.0000 0.0000

d'Amico International S.A. (a) Line-by-line Luxembourg 3,176,907 99.9998 0.0002

CO.GE.MA. S.A.M. (b) Line-by-line Monte Carlo 150,000 95.9998 4.0002

Comarfin S.A.M. (b) Line-by-line Monte Carlo 300,000 99.6998 0.3002

d’Amico Dry Ltd (b) Line-by-line Ireland 74,774 99.9998 0.0002

d’Amico Finance Ltd (b) Line-by-line Ireland 91,970 99.9998 0.0002

d’Amico Ireland Ltd (b) Line-by-line Ireland 50,000 99.9998 0.0002

d’Amico Shipping Singapore Pte Ltd (b) Line-by-line Singapore 59,457 99.9998 0.0002

d’Amico Shipping UK Ltd (b) Line-by-line England 47,887 99.9998 0.0002

Hanford Investments Inc. (b) Line-by-line Liberia 1,076 99.9998 0.0002

Saint Andrew Estates Ltd (c) Line-by-line Liberia 530 99.9998 0.0002

Ishima Pte Limited (b) Line-by-line Singapore 594,566 99.9998 0.0002

Global Maritime Supplies Pte Ltd (l) Line-by-line Singapore 59,457 99.9998 0.0002

Cambiaso Risso Asia Pte Ltd (n) Line-by-line Singapore 123,605 49.9999 50.0001

Rudder S.A.M. (b) Line-by-line Monte Carlo 150,000 84.9998 15.0002

Rudder Pte Ltd (d) Line-by-line Singapore 118,913 84.9998 15.0002

Rudder Argentina SA (d) Line-by-line Argentina 17,961 76,4998 23,5002

Anglo Canadian Shipping Ltd (b) Line-by-line Canada 681,120 99.9998 0.0002

ACGI Shipping Inc. (e) Line-by-line Canada 1,166,211 99.9998 0.0002

ACGI Shipping Pte Ltd (m) Line-by-line Singapore 5,946 99.9998 0.0002

Saemar S.A. (b) Line-by-line Spain 72,120 99.8298 0.1702

Medbulk Maritime Ltd (f ) Line-by-line Ireland 80,376 99.8298 0.1702

Damighreb S.à.r.l. (b) Line-by-line Morocco 6,766 69.9999 30.0001

d'Amico International Shipping S.A. (b) Line-by-line Luxembourg 115,889,873 65.6468 34.3532

Glenda International Shipping Ltd (n) Proportional Ireland 155 32.8200 67.1800

d'Amico Tankers Ltd (g) Line-by-line Ireland 100,000 65.6468 34.3532

d'Amico Tankers Monaco S.A.M. (h) Line-by-line Monte Carlo 150,000 65.6337 34.3663

d'Amico Tankers UK Ltd (h) Line-by-line UK 38,643 65.6468 34.3532

d'Amico Tankers Singapore Pte Ltd (h) Line-by-line Singapore 38,643 65.6468 34.3532

DM Shipping Ltd (n) Proportional Ireland 77,286 33.4799 66.5201

Glenda International Managem. Ltd (h) Line-by-line Ireland 2 65.6468 34.3532

High Pool Tankers Ltd (h) Line-by-line Ireland 2 65.6468 34.3532

VPC Logistic Ltd (h) Line-by-line UK 38,643 65.6468 34.3532

Sirius Ship Management S.r.l. (a) Line-by-line Genoa 101,490 60.0000 40.0000

Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A. (a) Line-by-line Rome 7,000,000 58.0164 41.9836

Telemar UK Ltd (i) Line-by-line England 299,294 58.0164 41.9836

Bay Bridge Services Ltd (j) Line-by-line Hong Kong 995 50.7644 49.2356

Adci International LLC (i) Line-by-line USA 193,601 37.5366 62.4634
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The scope of consolidation was essentially unchanged in 2011 compared to the previous year.

Equity investments in joint ventures

Joint ventures have been consolidated according to the equity method based on the following amounts expressed
in thousands of euro:

a) Controlled directly
b) Controlled through d’Amico International S.A.
c) Controlled through Hanford Investments Inc.
d) Controlled through Rudder S.A.M.
e) Controlled through Anglo Canadian Shipping Ltd
f ) Controlled through Saemar S.A.
g) Controlled through d'Amico International Shipping S.A.
h) Controlled through d'Amico Tankers Ltd
i) Controlled through Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A.
l) Controlled through Telemar UK
m) Controlled through Telemar AB
n) Controlled through Ishima Pte Ltd
o) Controlled through Ishima Pte Ltd and ACGI Shipping Inc.
p) Joint venture

Revenue Net profit or loss Total assets Shareholders’ equity

As at 31 December 2011

Glenda International Shipping Ltd 21,664 781 233,495 100,149

DM Shipping Ltd 8,297 (4,729) 68,424 (17,876)

As at 31 December 2010

Glenda International Shipping Ltd 5,436 (5,437) 231,228 99,298

DM Shipping Ltd 4,230 (5,165) 72,800 (12,780)

32. Subsequent events  

For the disclosures required by Article 2428 of the Italian
Civil Code concerning significant events after year-end,

please refer to the report on operations.

Company name Consolidation City or   Share Percent interest  Percent interest   
method country capital held by Parent   held by 

in Euro Company minorities

Telemar Usa LLC (i) Line-by-line USA 193,593 33.4349 66.5651

Telemar AB (i) Line-by-line Sweden 662,085 55.1156 44.8844

Telemar Scandinavia AB (k) Line-by-line Sweden 26,930 30.3136 69.6864

LLC Telemar SPb (k) Line-by-line Russia 2,920 30.3136 69.6864

Navidec OY (k) Line-by-line Finland 1,887 55.1156 44.8844

Telemar Gmbh (i) Line-by-line Germany 28,409 51.0544 48.9456

Telemar Shanghai Ltd (i) Line-by-line China 260,604 46.4131 53.5869

Polar Electronics Norge As (i) Line-by-line Norway 180,948 58.0164 41.9836

Telemar Singapore Pte Ltd (i) Line-by-line Singapore 106,995 58.0164 41.9836

d'Amico Shipping USA Ltd (b) Line-by-line USA 77 99.9998 0.0002

Mida Maritime Company Ltd (a) Line-by-line Ireland 99,800 51.0000 49.0000
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d’Amico Società di Navigazione 

Income Statement 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

(Euro) 2011 2010

Net profit 64,700,074 44,586,755

Effective part of gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges (215,494) 2,560,026

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 64,484,580 47,146,781

(Euro) Notes 2011 2010

Revenue 4 11,621,818 11,376,032

Direct operating costs 5 (1,134,731) (1,000,420)

General and administrative costs 6 (15,080,435) (13,849,248)

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT (4,593,348) (3,473,636)
Depreciation and amortization (1,200,716) (487,687)

OPERATING PROFIT (5,794,064) (3,961,323)
Dividends 7 70,320,225 46,930,460

Other financial income 7 2,476,798 2,376,886

Financial charges 7 (2,062,268) (286,045)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 64,940,691 45,059,978
Income taxes 8 (240,617) (473,223)

NET PROFIT 64,700,074 44,586,755
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Statement of Financial Position

The financial statements presented above were approved for publication on 3 May 2012 on behalf of the Board of
Directors by:

Paolo d’Amico, Chairman Cesare d’Amico, Chief Executive Officer

(Euro) Note As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Intangible assets 9 45,831 28,653

Tangible assets 10 66,679,656 8,939,729

Long-term investments 11 173,571,004 152,848,894

Other non-current financial assets 12 6,245,946 5,756,364

Other non-current assets 13 824,898 846,860

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 247,367,335 168,420,500

Current assets

Short-term receivables and other current assets 14 1,770,808 1,679,642

Other current financial assets 15 5,650,362 5,083,102

Cash and cash equivalents 16 17,078,571 11,008,973

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 24,499,741 17,771,717

TOTAL ASSETS 271,867,076 186,192,217

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 25,000,000 25,000,000

Retained earnings 110,176,350 95,589,595

Other reserves (2,725,389) (2,509,895)

Net profit 64,700,074 44,586,755

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 17 197,151,035 162,666,455

Non-current liabilities

Provisions for risks and charges 18 669,833 669,833

Banks and other lenders 20 34,990,204 2,044,707

Provisions for employee benefits 19 2,098,956 1,814,277

Deferred-tax liabilities 609,373 476,584

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 38,368,366 5,005,401

Current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 20 31,985,138 15,264,964

Short-term payables and other current liabilities 21 4,362,537 3,255,397

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 36,347,675 18,520,361

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 271,867,076 186,192,217
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Statement of Cash Flows 
(Euro) 2011 2010

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 64,700,074 44,586,755
Depreciation and amortization 1,200,716 487,687

Current and deferred tax 132,789 473,223

Financial charges / (income) (69,615,073) (47,066,302)

Changes in the fair value of financial assets 64,500 (247,500)

Other non-cash items 397,596 (792,898)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
BEFORE CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL (3,119,398) (2,559,035)
Movement in inventories - -

Movement in amounts receivable (47,082) (699,638)

Movement in amounts payable 1,059,973 821,444

Taxes paid (107,828) (138,821)

Interest collected / (paid) (705,152) 142,733

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 199,911 125,718
Acquisition of intangible assets (56,662) (23,140)

Acquisition of tangible assets (58,901,159) (372,276)

Acquisition of long-term investments (23,205,726) (33,502,020)

Acquisition of other financial assets (5,873) (5,511,465)

Sale/disposal of fixed assets 1,172,609 34,001

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (80,996,811) (39,374,900)
Financing applied for 35,000,000 -

Movement in other financial payables 15,300,000 15,000,000

Bank loan repayments (634,329) (285,817)

Dividends collected 70,320,225 46,930,460

Dividends paid (30,000,000) (30,000,000)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 89,985,896 31,644,643
NET CASH PROVIDED / (USED) 6,069,598 (10,163,574)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11,008,973 21,172,547

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 17,078,571 11,008,973
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(Euro) Share Retained Other reserves Net profit Total

capital earnings Other Available For Sale  or loss

BALANCE AS AT 31 
DECEMBER 2009 25,000,000 77,219,439 - (5,069,921) 48,243,757 145,393,275
Dividends (30,000,000) (30,000,000)

Other changes 18,370,156 (18,243,757) 126,399

Comprehensive income 2,560,026 44,586,755 47,146,781

BALANCE AS AT 31 
DECEMBER 2010 25,000,000 95,589,595 - (2,509,895) 44,586,755 162,666,455

(Euro) Share Retained Other reserves Net profit Total
capital earnings Other Available For Sale  or loss

BALANCE AS AT 31 
DECEMBER 2010 25,000,000 95,589,595 - (2,509,895) 44,586,755 162,666,455
Dividends (30,000,000) (30,000,000)

Allocation of 2010 profit 14,586,755 (14,586,755) 0

Comprehensive income (215,494) 64,700,074 64,484,580

BALANCE AS AT 31  
DECEMBER 2011 25,000,000 110,176,350 - (2,725,389) 64,700,074 197,151,035
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Notes
Introduction
d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. is an Italian joint-
stock company with registered office in Palermo, Italy
and head office in Rome, Italy. It holds equity
investments in companies responsible for the business
sectors in which the d'Amico Group operates both
directly and indirectly through sub-holding companies. 

These statutory financial statements were approved for
publication by the Board of Directors on 3 May 2012.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with international accounting principles
(hereinafter International Accounting Standards - IASs
and/or International Financial Reporting Standards -
IFRSs) and the interpretations of the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
and Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) endorsed
by the European Commission (also referred to
collectively hereinafter as ‘IFRSs’). It should be noted that,
as permitted by applicable legislation, the Company has
prepared its financial statements in accordance with
IFRSs on a voluntary basis since 2010. 

1. Accounting policies

Basis of presentation
The financial statements comprise the income
statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of financial position, statement of cash flows,
statement of changes in shareholders' equity and the
notes. In the income statement, costs have been
classified by nature. All revenue and cost items
recognized during a given year are presented in two
separate statements, the income statement and
statement of comprehensive income. The presentation
scheme adopted for the statement of financial position
is based on a distinction between current and non-
current assets and liabilities. Current assets, which
include cash and cash equivalents, are those intended
to be realized, disposed of or used in the Company's
normal operating cycle or the 12 months after year-end;
current liabilities are those expected to be extinguished
during the normal operating cycle or the 12 months
after year-end. The indirect method has been used to
prepare the statement of cash flows.

IFRSs have been applied in accordance with the
indications provided in the ‘Framework for the

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements’ and
there were no critical situations requiring the use of
departures pursuant to IAS 1, paragraph 19.

The Company has access to adequate resources suited
to ensuring that it may continue to operate in the near
future. The financial statements have therefore been
prepared on a going-concern basis, by applying the
historical cost method, with the exception of those line
items that are measured at fair value in accordance with
IFRSs.
The financial statements have been presented in euro,
the Company's functional currency. The income
statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of financial position, statement of cash flows
and statement of changes in shareholders' equity have
been presented in euro as the figures presented in the
notes (unless otherwise indicated).

The following is a discussion of accounting policies,
applied in a uniform manner to all years presented and
to the opening IFRS financial position as at 1 January
2009.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially
recognized at the spot exchange rate on the
transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are converted into
the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on
the reporting date. Any resulting exchange
differences are recognized through the income
statement. Non-monetary items measured at their
historical cost in a foreign currency are converted
using the exchange rate in force on the date of initial
recognition of the transaction. Non-monetary items
measured at their fair values in foreign currencies are
converted using the exchange rate on the date said
values are calculated.

Dividends and other income from equity
investments
Dividends collected from investees are recognized in
the income statement when entitlement to collect
them arises. Dividends payable are reported as a
movement in shareholders' equity in the period in



2011 Annual Report | 79

d’Amico Società di Navigazione 

which they are approved by the general meeting of the
shareholders.

Revenue recognition
Service revenue is recognized in reference to the
contractually accrued consideration.

Operating costs and general and
administrative costs
Operating costs and general and administrative costs
are recognized in the income statement as incurred.

Financial income and charges
Financial income and charges include interest income
on investments and interest expenses on borrowings,
realized and unrealized exchange differences associated
with transactions undertaken in currencies other than
the functional currency and other financial income and
charges. Interest is recognized in the income statement
on an accruals basis according to the effective interest
method.

Taxation
Taxes are calculated according to the taxable profit for
the year by applying the tax rates in force when the
financial statements are prepared. Tax charges are
determined on the basis of the net profit or loss for the
year, adjusted to reflect certain non-exempt or non-
deductible elements, and are calculated according to
the tax rate in effect when the financial statements are
prepared.

Deferred tax, where applicable, is tax that the Group
expects to pay or recover on differences between taxes
receivable and payable carried in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in calculating taxable profit. It is accounted for
using the financial position liability method. Deferred
tax liabilities are recognized for all temporary taxable
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary

differences can be utilized. The carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets are reviewed at each financial
position date and reduced in the event that it is not
considered probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the applicable
tax rates during the period when the liability is settled or
asset realized. It is charged or credited in the income
statement, unless it relates to items charged or credited
directly to comprehensive income, in which case the
deferred tax is also accounted for in comprehensive
income.

Intangible assets
Other purchased or internally generated intangible
assets are recognized at cost, including directly
attributable auxiliary costs required to render the assets
available for use, provided that it is likely that the use of
the assets will yield future economic benefits and the
cost of the assets may be determined reliably. Such
assets are measured at purchase or production cost and
amortized on a straight-line basis according to their
estimated useful lives, which are reviewed on at least an
annual basis. Any changes are applied prospectively.
Amortization begins when an asset becomes available
for use. The estimated useful lives for this category of
assets, which consists almost exclusively of software, are
three years.

Tangible assets
Buildings and other tangible assets

Owned buildings and other tangible assets are
recognized at acquisition cost or fair value and
depreciated on a straight-line basis according to their
residual useful lives at the following rates:

Years

Owned properties 33 

Furniture and fittings 8.5

Electronic machines 4

Motor vehicles 5

Leasehold improvements Term of contract (max. 5) 
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Leases   
Assets acquired under finance leases, where
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the Company, are initially recognized as
assets by the Company at the lower of their fair values or
the present value of the minimum payments due,
including any sum to be paid to the lessor to exercise
the purchase option. The corresponding liability is
recognized among financial liabilities. After initial
recognition, such assets are measured according to the
applicable accounting principles.

Operating leases are not recognized in the Company's
statement of financial position.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to
financial assets and liabilities or equity instruments of
another entity, as defined in IAS 32 (Financial
Instruments: Presentation) and IAS 39 (Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). Such
instruments are measured at their fair values when the
Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument (the trade date). Liabilities
are classified in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements from which they arise and
the relevant definitions of a financial liability. For
contracts negotiated at market price, the fair value of
the instrument is equivalent to the purchase cost
(nominal value of the transaction).

The external costs and income from transactions
directly attributable to negotiation, such as
intermediation costs, are included during initial
recognition of the instrument, unless measured at fair
value. Financial assets are measured at fair value or
amortized cost, depending on the characteristics of
each instrument. Financial liabilities are measured on
the basis of their amortized cost. Only derivative
instruments are measured at fair value.

‘Fair value’ is the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged, or a liability discharged, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's-length
transaction. Measurement on the basis of amortized
cost involves recognizing the asset or liability at the
value initially measured, deducting any redemption of
equity, increased or decreased by overall depreciation,
applying the effective interest method on any

difference between the initial value and value at
maturity. Such amounts may nonetheless be adjusted
to account for impairment or irrecoverability. The
effective interest rate is the rate that reduces at source
the future contractual cash flows to the net amount of
the financial asset or liability. The calculation also
includes the external expenses and income directly
assigned during initial recognition of the financial
instrument. 

The accounting policies adopted for specific assets and
liabilities are presented below.

Equity investments and other financial assets

Equity investment in subsidiaries and associates
companies are initially recognized at cost and adjusted
for impairment. If the Company’s share of an investee's
losses exceeds the carrying amount of its equity
investment in that investee and the Company is
required or willing to accept liability for such losses, the
equity investment is written down to zero and the share
of additional losses is set aside to a provision on the
liabilities side. If the grounds for the impairment loss
cease to apply, the carrying amount of the equity
investment is recovered, up to the original cost. That
recovery is recognized in the income statement.

Equity investments in other companies are recognized
among non-current assets under Equity investments
and other financial assets and are measured at fair value
or, alternatively, cost, if fair value cannot be determined
reliably. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are recognized directly in shareholders' equity
until the equity investments in question are disposed of
or become impaired. When either of the foregoing
occurs, the total gains or losses previously recognized
in shareholders' equity are credited or expensed to the
income statement for the period. The original amount is
recovered if the grounds for an impairment loss cease to
apply in subsequent years.

Held-for-trading financial assets are measured at fair
value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of financial instruments classified as held for
trading are recognized in the income statement for the
period. 

Financial assets and securities possessed with the
intention of holding them to maturity (‘held-to-
maturity’) that do not meet the conditions for inclusion
among cash and cash equivalents are recognized and
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derecognized according to the trade date. Such assets
are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently
measured according to the amortized cost method, less
any impairment losses. 

The fair value of a financial instrument is determined
according to market price quotations or, where such
quotations are not available, estimated according to
appropriate valuation techniques that make use of up-
to-date financial variables employed by market
operators, while also taking account of the prices of
recent transactions involving similar financial
instruments, where possible. 

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at their face
value (which represents the ‘fair value’ of the 
transaction) and are subsequently measured at
amortized cost, net of impairment losses recognized in
the income statement where there is objective evidence
that an asset has become impaired. Impairment is
calculated as the difference between the carrying
amount and present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. In the
case of short-term trade receivables in particular, given
the brief period of time at issue, measurement at
amortized cost is equivalent to nominal value, less
impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognized
when management consider the full recovery of a
receivable to be in doubt. If management consider the
amounts non-recoverable, then they are written off in
their entirety.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
current accounts and demand deposits held with
banks, as well as other short-term, highly liquid
investments readily convertible to a known amount of
cash within six months, and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash
equivalents are measured at fair value, corresponding
to their nominal value, or at cost, plus any interest
charges, depending on their nature.

Banks and other lenders

Interest-bearing bank borrowings relating to the
financing of vessels and overdrafts are recognized
according to the amounts received, net of transaction
costs, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost

according to the effective interest rate method. The
difference between the loan proceeds and nominal
value is recognized in the income statement over the
term of the loan.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are measured at amortized
cost, which is generally equivalent to face value,
considering the characteristics and maturity of such
payables.

Derivative instruments

The Company does not make use of derivative
instruments.

Pension and post-employment benefit
liabilities
Liabilities relating to employee benefits paid in the
course of service or thereafter in connection with
defined-benefit plans are calculated separately for each
plan according to actuarial hypotheses by estimating
the amount of the future benefit that has accrued to
employees in exchange for services rendered during the
current and previous years. That benefit is discounted
to determine its present value, while any unrecognized
past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets
are subtracted from the liabilities. The calculation is
performed by an independent actuary using the
projected unit credit method. The Company recognizes
all actuarial gains and losses deriving from defined-
benefit plans directly and immediately in the income
statement.

In defined-contribution plans, the entity's obligation,
which is limited to the payment of contributions to
governmental organizations or a segregated body of
assets or legal entity (a ‘fund’), is determined according
to the contributions owed. 

Provisions for risks and charges
Provisions for risks and charges are recognized to
account for costs and expenses the nature of which is
fixed and the existence of which is certain or probable,
but the amount or date of occurrence of which is not
known at the reporting date. Provisions for risks and
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charges are recognized when the Company has a
present obligation as a result of a past event and it is
likely that the Company will be required to discharge
that obligation, the amount of which can be estimated
reliably. Provisions are allocated based on the Directors'
best estimate of the costs required to meet the
obligation at the reporting date, and are discounted
when the effect is significant.

Dividends
Dividends payable are reported as a movement in
shareholders' equity in the period in which they are
approved by the general meeting of the shareholders.

Critical accounting judgments and key
estimates
In preparing the financial statements, d'Amico's
Directors are required to make assessments, estimates
and assumptions that influence the application of
accounting principles and the amounts of assets,
liabilities, costs and revenue. Directors' decisions are
based on past experience and expectations of the
occurrence of future events and are therefore to be
considered reasonable. However, it should be noted
that, since they are in fact estimates, actual results may
differ from the results presented in these financial
statements. The process of preparing estimates
involves the various business areas. Such estimates and
assumptions are revised regularly. Any effects deriving
from the revision of accounting estimates are
accounted for in the period in which the revision is
conducted and the associated subsequent periods. 

It is believed that certain accounting principles are
particularly significant to comprehension of the
financial statements. In this respect, the following is an
account of the areas most extensively affected by such
procedures, as well as of the assumptions employed
by management in the process of assessing the
foregoing line items, in accordance with the above-
mentioned international accounting principles. The
critical element inherent in such estimates is a result
of the use of assumptions and/or professional
judgments concerning matters that are uncertain by
nature.

Tax liabilities - Tax liabilities are calculated based on the
Company's specific tax situation, determined on the
basis of the law in force in the countries where the
Company operates. 

Defined-benefit plans - The expenses and liabilities
associated with such plans are calculated according to
estimates prepared by actuarial consultants who use
a combination of statistical and actuarial factors,
including statistical data concerning previous years
and projections of future costs. Estimation
components also include mortality and withdrawal
rates, assumptions regarding the future discount rate
trend, salary growth rates and an analysis of the year-
on-year change in healthcare costs. Such estimates
may diverge materially from actual results due to the
evolution of economic and market conditions,
increases/decreases in withdrawal rates and the length
of participants' lives and changes in the effective costs
of healthcare.

Leases - Lease contracts are classified as operating or
financial at the commencement of the contractual
period and such classified is not subsequently
modified. Classification depends on estimates based
on contractual conditions. In such case, the "substance
over form" approach is adopted. 

New accounting principles 
Accounting policies adopted 

Accounting principles adopted effective 1 January 2011 –
There are no new applicable accounting standards with
respect to those adopted for the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Accounting principles, amendments and
interpretations not yet in force and not adopted
early by the Company

The following Standards and amendments to existing
Standards have been published and are mandatory for
accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2011,
but have not been adopted early by the Company:

IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfers of
Financial Assets: the Standard prescribes greater
disclosure obligations with respect to transactions
involving the transfer of financial assets. The
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amendments in question aim to increase the
transparency of exposures to risks associated with the
transfer of financial assets where the seller partially
retains exposure to such assets. According to these
amendments, transfers of financial assets must be
disclosed even when they are not uniformly
distributed throughout the entire period.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: the Standard concerns
the recognition and measurement of financial assets
in order to determine whether such assets are to be
carried at amortized cost or fair value and the
accounting treatment of derivatives embedded in
financial assets. The Standard will apply to accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, although
early adoption is permitted.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: the Standard provides
indications regarding the determination of fair value
where required or permitted by other international
accounting standards and contains further disclosure
obligations that permit users of financial statements to
assess the methods used by entities to conduct fair
value measurements and the effects of such
measurements on financial results. The Standard will
apply to accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, although early adoption is permitted.

Various other IFRSs have been amended as part of the
Annual Improvements. Except as previously stated, the
amendments not yet in force are unlikely to have a
material impact on the Company's financial
statements.

2. Risk management 

D’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. is subject to the
same type of risks of the other companies belonging to
the Group of which it is the Parent Company, whether
directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the reader is referred to note 22 below, as
well as to the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. 

3. Capital disclosure

The objectives pursued by d’Amico Società di
Navigazione S.p.A. in managing its capital are:

to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it may continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders; and 
to provide an adequate return for shareholders by
operating on the spot/time-charter market,
balancing its level of commercial risk.

In addition to equity, the Company's capital structure
principally comprises various lines of credit and bank
borrowings. The Company's capital structure is
periodically reviewed and, where necessary, adjusted to
suit the Company's capital requirements, changes in
general economic conditions and industry risk
characteristics. In this respect, the Company monitors
its capital situation continually. As an additional measure
of monitoring risk associated with its debt structure, the
Company also monitors its debt-to-equity ratio.  

4. Revenue

The revenue presented in the financial statements
derives from the services rendered, primarily to Group
companies, in the areas of ship management, SQE, legal
affairs, information technology and administration. 

5. Operating costs 

Operating costs refer to services received and directly
associated with the generation of revenue, such as
crewing or ship management operations, which are
partly outsourced to other Group companies. 

6. General and administrative costs  

•

•

(Euro) 2011 2010

TOTAL 11,621,818 11,376,032

(Euro) 2011 2010

TOTAL 1,134,731 1,000,420

(Euro) 2011 2010
Personnel costs 8,147,952 8,217,295

Other general and 
administrative costs 6,932,483 5,676,953

TOTAL 15,080,435 13,849,248
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Personnel costs refer to salaries, including pension costs
and accruals of end-of-service benefits for personnel in
service at year-end. The Company employed a staff of
74 as at 31 December 2011 compared to 66 in the
previous year. 

Other costs include the Euro 1,106,000 in
compensation paid to the Company's Directors (Euro
1,216,000 in the previous year), along with the
compensation paid to members of the Board of
Statutory Auditors, which came to Euro 113,584
compared to Euro 77,268 in 2010. The remainder is
associated with consulting fees, office management
expenses and other costs of an administrative nature.

7. Dividends, other financial income
and financial charges

The following table presents dividends collected on
equity investments in 2011:

Other financial income refers primarily to interest income
from banks and other creditors, as well as foreign
exchange gains originating from the differences registered
during the year and translation of items of the statement
of financial position in foreign currencies still in existence
at the exchange rates as at 31 December 2011. 

Financial charges include interest on borrowings –
originating from the finance lease agreement for the Rome
head office premises and the loan for the purchase of the
property closed in 2011, as well as charges associated with
losses on investments involving warrants or funds held in
portfolio, broken down into realized losses of Euro 170
thousand and unrealized losses of Euro 64.5 thousand. 

(Euro) 2011 2010

DIVIDENDS 70,320,225 46,930,460

Other financial income

Bank interest income 577,473 85,916

Interest on sundry receivables 138,159 133,776

Fair-value accounting - 247,500

Exchange gains 1,761,166 1,909,694

TOTAL 2,476,798 2,376,886

Financial charges

Interest on borrowings (1,420,561) (83,646)

Bank interest expenses (223) (205)

Other financial charges (322,023) (92,332)

Losses on investments (234,512)

Exchange losses (84,949) (109,862)

TOTAL (2,062,268) (286,045)

(Euro) 2011 2010

Subsidiaries

d'Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. 48,000,000 29,715,296

d'Amico International S.A. 19,091,671 14,999,976

Compagnia Generale 
Telemar S.p.A. 2,152,408 1,908,739

Sirius Ship Management S.r.l. 30,000

69,274,079 46,624,011
Other companies

Tamburi Investment 
Partners S.p.A. 472,500 282,449

Sator S.p.A. 28,000 24,000

Datalogic S.p.A. 183,000

Banco Popolare Soc.  
Coop. A.R.L. 43,146

Banca Profilo S.p.A. 7,500

ClubTre S.r.l. 312,000

1,046,146 306,449
TOTAL 70,320,225 46,930,460
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8. Income taxes

D’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. is subject to the
Italian tax code and the ordinary tax rate that applies to
its taxable profit is 27.50%. 

The following is a statement of reconciliation between
charges for taxes recognized in the income statement
and the theoretical tax charge calculated on the basis
of the ordinary corporate income tax (IRES) rate in force
in Italy:

It should be noted that net of the 2011 tax projection,
on the basis of the returns filed to date, the Company
presents a total of Euro 1,244 thousand in unused prior-
year losses (present since tax year 2008). Upon their
future use, such prior-year losses will yield a tax savings,
calculated according to current tax rates, of Euro 342
thousand.

Deferred tax liabilities arose from the recognition of
unrealized positive differences deriving from the
translation of accounts receivable in foreign currencies, 
presented among financial income, which will be taxed
only when actually realized. 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 64,940,691

Tax adjustments for:

Taxation of dividends at 5% (66,804,000)

Partial deductibility of costs 1,029,000

Exchange difference due to translation 
of items in foreign currencies (483,000)

Taxable profit or loss (1,317,309)

Use of prior-year losses -

Tax charges accrued -

(Euro) 2011 2010

Current income taxes 

of which, IRES 
(corporate income tax) - -

of which, IRAP
(regional production tax) 97,100 204,200

Adjustment of prior-year taxes 10,728 (20,865)

Deferred taxes 132,789 289,888

TOTAL 240,617 473,223
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Land and buildings include the registered office in
Palermo, head office in Rome, warehouse in Genoa and
several residential and office units in Rome. 

In June 2011 the Parent Company undertook a
significant investment in the real-estate sector involving
the purchase of a property of approximately 6,000 m²
located in a central area of Rome (Via Paisiello).

Other assets include furniture and fittings, electronic
machines, motor vehicles and office equipment.

Pursuant to article 10 of Law 72/1983, it is hereby
specified that tangible assets include the revalued
amount of buildings, in the residual amount of Euro
115,995, as a result of the revaluation applied in 1994
following the merger of Segesta Soc. Mob. Fin. S.p.A. 

Land and buildings Other assets Total

AS AT 1 JANUARY 2011 7,699,219 1,240,510 8,939,729

Additions 58,646,449 254,710 58,901,159

Disposals - - -

Depreciation for the year (893,001) (268,231) (1,161,232)

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 65,452,667 1,226,989 66,679,656

10. Tangible assets

The following table presents movements in tangible assets during the reporting year and previous year: 

9. Intangible assets

The amounts of intangible assets refers to the costs of
software, which is amortized over three years. The
increase compared to the previous year, net of the 

amortization charge for the year, relates to the
purchases of a recurring nature undertaken in 2011.

(Euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 66,679,656 8,939,729

(Euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 45,831 28,653
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11. Long-term investments

The following is a breakdown of long-term investments by type, along with changes during the year.

(Euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

TOTAL 173,571,004 152,848,894

Company name As at Changes As at 31 Percent 
31 December Acquisitions/ Measurement  December  interest 

2010 (disposals) at FV 2011

Subsidiaries

d'Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. 44,976,428 44,976,428 100.00%

d'Amico International S.A. 26,954,779 26,954,779 99.99%

Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A. 21,183,807 21,183,807 58.02%

Sirius Ship Management S.r.l. 59,578 59,578 60.00%

Mida Maritime Company Ltd 36,706 36,706 51.00%

Other 27,503 577,500 605,003

93,238,801 577,500 - 93,816,301

Associates

ClubTre S.r.l. 26,716,250 12,252,500 38,968,750 32.50%

Venice Shipping & Logistics S.p.A. 1,177,200 1,862,400 3,039,600 28.26%

Other 22,000 22,000

27,915,450 14,114,900 - 42,030,350

Other companies

Tamburi investment Partners S.p.A. 16,948,650 2,484,997 1,824,478 21,258,125 10.38%

Datalogic S.p.A. 7,173,467 1,175,951 (345,044) 8,004,374 2.38%

Sator S.p.A. 2,800,000 2,800,000 1.09%

Sator Private Equity Fund “A” L.P. 1,990,725 203,548 2,194,273 -

Civita Servizi S.r.l. 904,800 555,615 1,460,415 15.77%

Banca Profilo S.p.A. 675,000 (307,500) 367,500 0.22%

Banco Popolare Soc. Coop. A.R.L. - 2,634,904 (1,196,704) 1,438,200 0.08%

Other 1,202,001 (1,000,535) 201,466

31,694,643 6,054,480 (24,770) 37,724,353
TOTAL 152,848,894 20,746,880 (24,770) 173,571,004

Subsidiaries

The increase compared to the previous year relates to
the acquisition (presented among other subsidiaries) of
a 75% interest in Domas Immobiliare S.r.l. (based in
Imperia) in late December 2011, at the cost of Euro 577
thousand. The residual balance of investments in other
subsidiaries (Euro 27,503) refers to companies in
liquidation or non-operational companies.

Associates

Changes affecting associates during the year included
additional investments in ClubTre S.r.l. and Venice
Shipping & Logistic S.p.A.
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Other companies

Investments in other companies related to Tamburi
Investment Partners S.p.A. (Euro 2.5 million), Datalogic
S.p.A. (Euro 1.2 million), Banco Popolare Società
Cooperativa A.R.L. (Euro 2.6 million) and other
companies for a total of Euro 7 million. 

The results of the measurement of such investments at
fair value correspond to a net negative amount of Euro
25 thousand. The effect of measurement at fair value has
been recognized among shareholders' equity reserve
(available-for-sale fair value reserve) and has also been
presented in the statement of comprehensive income. 

12. Other non-current financial assets

The balance presented above refers primarily to the
receivable of Euro 6,210 thousand, denominated in
Japanese yen, claimed from the subsidiary MIDA Maritime
Company Ltd. This amount changed compared to the
previous year due to adjustment to the yen/euro exchange
rate at year-end. In this regard, it should be remarked that a
shift in the exchange rate of five percentage points at year-
end would have entailed a positive or negative change in
measurement of approximately Euro 300 thousand.

13. Other non-current assets

The item refers solely to direct taxes receivable. 

14. Receivables and other non-current
assets

The foregoing receivables derive from the invoicing of
revenue for services rendered according to the contracts in
force and are all to be considered set to come due in 2012. 

15. Other current financial assets

Other current financial assets include short-term
investments of liquidity. The change is related to bonds
purchase, measurement at fair value at year-end, which
resulted in the impairment of the bonds of Banco
Popolare Società Cooperativa A.R.L. (Euro 164
thousand) and certain warrants (Euro 202 thousand).
Where the measurement of the warrants was
recognized directly in the income statement, the
impairment losses was recognized in the specific
shareholders' equity reserve, inasmuch as the assets are
classified as available for sale.

16. Cash and cash equivalents

The item is primarily represented by short-term deposits
and the change was due to corporate activity and the
cash used to undertake investments.

17. Shareholders’ equity

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

TOTAL 6,245,946 5,756,364

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

TOTAL 824,898 846,860

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

TOTAL 1,770,808 1,679,642

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

TOTAL 5,650,362 5,083,102

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

Bank deposits 17,076,331 11,006,134

Cash 2,240 2,839

TOTAL 17,078,571 11,008,973

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

Share capital 25,000,000 25,000,000

Retained earnings 110,176,350 95,589,595

Other reserves (2,725,389) (2,509,895)

Net profit 64,700,074 44,586,755

TOTAL 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 197,151,035 162,666,455
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Share capital

The authorized and paid-in share capital of d’Amico
Società di Navigazione S.p.A. came to Euro 25 million
and was divided into 10 million shares with a par value
of Euro 2.50 each. The holders of ordinary shares are
entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to
time, have equal voting and dividend rights and rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings comprise profits retained, net of
dividends distributed. It should be noted that as at 31
December 2011 the amount of Euro 2,368,575 was to
be considered not available for distribution inasmuch
as it derived from revaluations through shareholders'
equity and unrealized exchange adjustments applied in
previous years.

Other reserves

Other reserves include the effects of the measurement
at fair value of short- and long-term financial
investments undertaken by the Company. As indicated
in the movements of shareholders' equity, a dividend of
Euro 30 million, or Euro 3,00 per share, was distributed to
shareholders after the previous financial statements
were approved.

18. Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions include allocations for risks or litigation
relating to certain ongoing labour suits or disputes. No
allocations or draw-downs were undertaken in 2011. 

19. Provisions for employee benefits

The provision represents the discounted amount
allocated to account for the liability to employees
pursuant to law and labour contracts in force, less the
benefits accrued after 1 January 2007, which have been
allocated to complementary pension schemes in
accordance with Legislative Decree 252 of 5 December
2005 (or transferred to the INPS treasury fund). The cited
amount also includes the provision set aside for the
end-of-service benefits of members of the Board of
Directors established in 2006, also discounted as
required by international accounting principles. 

The following table presents changes in actuarial
liabilities in 2011, reconciled with the liabilities
presented in the financial statements:

The main assumptions used in preparing an actuarial
estimate of employee-benefit liabilities are in line with
the previous year and may be summarized as follows:

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

TOTAL 669.833 669.833

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

TOTAL 2,098,956 1,814,277

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

ACTUARIAL LIABILITY 
AT THE BEGINNING 
OF THE YEAR 1,814,279 1,696,659  
Normal cost 204,932 199,982 

Financial charges 41,904 18,037 

Disbursements (19,284) (82,054) 

Unrecognized actuarial (gains)/
losses during the period 57,125 (18,347) 

RECOGNIZED LIABILITY 
AS AT YEAR-END 2,098,956 1,814,277

Severance indemnities

Discount rate Government rate curve

Inflation rate 2.00%

Staff turnover rate 5%

Mortality rate ISTAT 2002

End-of-service benefits

Inflation rate 0%

Discount rate Government rate curve
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20.  Banks and other lenders

Payables to financial institutions include the financing
of Euro 2.0 million associated with the finance lease
agreement entered into with Unicredit Leasing S.p.A.
governing the property located at Corso d’Italia 35/b
(the location of DSN’s head office) and the loan
contracted from Banco di Brescia, with a carrying
amount of Euro 34.7 million, for the property located in
Rome (Via Paisiello), purchased in June 2011, secured by
a mortgage on the property concerned.

Other lenders refer to an interest-bearing loan from the
subsidiary d'Amico International S.A.: this debt was
repaid in early 2012.

All of the foregoing debts have been contracted in euro. 

21. Short-term payables and other
current liabilities

As at 31 December 2011, short-term payables and other
current liabilities primarily consisted of trade payables, in
addition to the social-security and tax payables deriving
from the Company's role as withholding agent, settled
in January 2012. 

22. Information on financial risk

As disclosed in note 2, Risk management, the Company
exposed to some financial risks associated with its operations.
This section provides qualitative and quantitative disclosure
on the effect that those risks may have on the Company.

Market risk

Given its role of holding company, the Company is not
exposed to market risk bearing directly on its
operations.

Foreign-exchange risk

As at 31 December 2011, the Company, with the
exception of the loan in Japanese yen contracted by
the subsidiary Mida (amount financed of JPY 622.2
million), is not exposed to significant positions payable
or receivable in foreign currencies and does not make
use of derivative instruments exposed to foreign-
exchange risk.

Interest-rate risk

The Company is not exposed to interest-rate risk to a
significant extent. 

Credit risk 

The receivables outstanding as at year-end are
essentially claimed from Group companies. There were
no past-due items of material amount.

Liquidity risk

The Company is exposed to liquidity risk arising from
the possible mismatch between cash requirements
and credit facility repayments and cash flows.
Information concerning credit facilities is presented in
note 20, while the details of commitments are set out
in note 24. Management believes that the currently
available funds and major lines of credit, along with
the cash provided by operating activities, will allow the
Company to satisfy its requirements from investing
activities and working capital needs and discharge
obligations to repay debts at their natural due dates.

Fair-value risk

Management believe that the fair values of financial
assets and liabilities do not diverge significantly from
their carrying amounts as at the reporting date. 

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

Non-current payables to 
financial institutions 34,990,204 2,044,707

Current payables to financial 
institutions 1,685,138 264,964

Other lenders (current) 30,300,000 15,000,000

TOTAL 66,975,342 17,309,671

(Euro) As at As at 
31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

TOTAL 4,362,537 3,255,397
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23. Related-party transactions 

In the reporting year, as in the previous year, d'Amico
Società di Navigazione S.p.A. had dealings with related
parties pertaining essentially to service contracts in force
with subsidiaries. Such contracts were entered into at

normal arm's-length conditions equivalent to those
agreed to with independent third parties. The following
is a presentation of transactions affecting the income
statement undertaken in 2011.

(Thousands of euro) d'Amico  Cogema d'Amico d'Amico d’Amico d’Amico Ishima d’Amico Mida
Shipping Internat. Finance Internat. Tankers Dry Maritime  

Italia Shipping

Revenue

Assistance 3,981 25 100 10 80 3,426 30 2,372 -

Financial - - - - - - - - 128

For dividend revenue, please refer to the illustrative table presented in note 7. 

(Thousands of euro) Cogema d'Amico  Ishima d'Amico Ship Sirius
International India Shipmanagement  

Costs

Operating/administrative 1,295 290 100 618

Financial - 699 - - -

Owing to their nature, given that they derive from long-term contracts, the amounts relating to services rendered in
2011 do not diverge significantly from those reported in the previous year. 

The following table presents the balances of the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011:

(Thousands of euro) d'Amico  Cogema d'Amico d'Amico d'Amico Ishima d'Amico Mida d'Amico d'Amico Sirius d'Amico
Shipping International International Tankers Dry Maritime Finance Tankers Shipmanagem. Ship India

Italia Shipping Ltd UK

Receivables

Trade 129 - - - 73 378 207 - 6 5 9 9

Financial - - - - - - - 6,210 - - - -

Payables

Trade 59 12 - 13 - 251 - - - - - -

Financial - - 30,300 - - - - - - - - -



92 | d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.

24. Guarantees, commitments and contingencies

Guarantees given

With the exception of several comfort letters issued on
behalf of the indirect subsidiary d’Amico Dry Limited,

there were no guarantees given to third parties as at 31
December 2011.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2011, under the finance lease
agreement recognized among payables to banks and
other lenders, in addition to pre-determined principal
payments according to the repayment schedule, the
Company also owes the floating-rate interest payments.
Since it is impossible to predict changes through the
maturity of the loan, it should be remarked that the
cumulative amounts (from 1 January 2012 to the

maturity of the loan) on the basis of which the
payments are to be made are equivalent to interest of
Euro 225 thousand. In addition, following the acquisition
of the investment in Domas Immobiliare S.r.l., it bears
noting that the Company undertook to repay the
shareholders’ loan carried by the investee in the amount
of Euro 11 million (as also stated in note 25 below). 

Ongoing disputes

The Company is currently a party to ongoing legal
disputes relating to commercial and labour matters for
which ample allocations have been made to provisions

for risks and charges. There are no other disputes that
may give rise to potential liabilities. 

25. Subsequent events  

As mentioned in the report on operations, in early 2012,
DSN, as the new shareholder of Domas Immobiliare S.r.l.,
disbursed an interest-free shareholders’ loan of
approximately Euro 11 million, as requested by the

investee. The investee then accordingly repaid the loan
of the same amount to the seller, inasmuch as the
minority shareholder did not oppose such repayment.
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Annexes

List of Fleet Vessels
Dry cargo

Name of vessel Vessel type Dwt Year Company

OWNED
Medi Sentosa 1 Panamax 83,690 2008 Mida Maritime Ltd

Medi Lausanne Panamax 83,002 2006 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Hong Kong Panamax 83,000 2006 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Medi Baltimore Panamax 76,290 2005 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Medi Venezia Panamax 76,600 2005 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Medi Vitoria Panamax 76,616 2004 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Cagliari Panamax 75,500 2004 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Medi Tokio Panamax 74,356 1999 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Medi Valencia Handymax 56,000 2008 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Medi Bangkok Handymax 53,466 2006 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Lisbon Handymax 58,700 2006 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Chennai Handymax 55,862 2005 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Shanghai Handymax 56,000 2005 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Nagasaki Handymax 53,098 2002 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Dublino OHBS 37,000 2011 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di San Francisco OHBS 37,000 2011 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Livorno OHBS 37,277 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Genova OHBS 32,353 2005 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Monfalcone 1 OHBS 37,420 2002 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Cielo di Vancouver 1 OHBS 37,420 2002 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Cielo di Casablanca 2 Containers Carrier 9,950 1998 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Agadir 2 Containers Carrier 22,984 1996 d'Amico Dry Limited

CHERTERED
Medi Salerno Panamax 81,000 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Antwerp Panamax 76,600 2007 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Singapore Panamax 75,397 2006 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Genova Panamax 75,600 2004 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Okinawa Handymax 56,000 2011 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Paestum Handymax 55,500 2009 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Segesta Handymax 58,000 2009 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Firenze Handymax 58,000 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi Imabari Handymax 56,047 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Savona OHBS 33,225 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Pisa OHBS 32,248 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Tokyo OHBS 37,296 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Venezia OHBS 37,313 2008 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Amalfi OHBS 37,322 2007 d'Amico Dry Limited
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Name of vessel Vessel type Dwt Expected delivery Company

NEW BUILDINGS
Cielo di Vaiano OHBS 37,000 2012 d'Amico Dry Limited

Cielo di Capalbio OHBS 37,000 2012 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi TBN (Sanoyas/1315) Mini Capesize 115,000 2015 d'Amico Dry Limited

Medi TBN (Sanoyas/1316) Mini Capesize 115,000 2015 d'Amico Dry Limited

Chartered to d'Amico Dry Limited

Chartered to Damighreb

1

2
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Product tankers

Name of vessel Vessel type Dwt Year Company

OWNED
GLENDA Meryl 3 MR 47,251 2011 d'Amico Tankers Limited

GLENDA Melissa 3 MR 47,203 2011 d'Amico Tankers Limited

GLENDA Melody 3 MR 47,238 2011 d'Amico Tankers Limited

GLENDA Melanie 3 MR 47,162 2010 d'Amico Tankers Limited

GLENDA Meredith 3 MR 46,147 2010 d'Amico Tankers Limited

GLENDA Megan 3 MR 47,147 2009 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Efficiency 4 MR 46,547 2009 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Strength 4 MR 46,800 2009 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Venture MR 51,087 2006 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Courage MR 46,975 2005 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Performance MR 51,303 2005 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Presence MR 48,700 2005 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Priority MR 46,847 2005 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Progress MR 51,303 2005 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Valor MR 46,975 2005 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Endeavour MR 46,992 2004 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Endurance MR 46,992 2004 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Challenge MR 46,475 1999 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Spirit MR 46,473 1999 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Wind MR 46,471 1999 d'Amico Tankers Limited

Cielo di Milano Handysize 40,096 2003 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Cielo di Roma Handysize 40,081 2003 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Cielo di Salerno Handysize 36,032 2002 d'Amico Tankers Limited

Cielo di Londra Handysize 35,985 2001 d'Amico Tankers Limited

Cielo di Parigi Handysize 36,032 2001 d'Amico Tankers Limited

CHARTERED
High Force MR 53,603 2009 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Pearl MR 48,023 2009 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Enterprise MR 45,800 2009 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Jupiter MR 51,149 2008 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Mars MR 51,149 2008 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Mercury MR 51,149 2008 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Saturn MR 51,149 2008 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Glow MR 46,846 2006 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Prosperity MR 48,711 2006 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Energy MR 46,874 2004 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Power MR 46,874 2004 d'Amico Tankers Limited

High Nefeli MR 45,976 2003 d'Amico Tankers Limited
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Name of vessel Vessel type Dwt Year Company

CHARTERED
Marvel Handysize 38,603 2008 d'Amico Tankers Limited

Malbec Handysize 38,499 2008 d'Amico Tankers Limited

Cielo di Guangzhou 5 Handysize 38,877 2006 d'Amico Tankers Limited

Cielo di Napoli 5 Handysize 40,083 2002 d'Amico Shipping Italia SpA

Name of vessel Vessel type Dwt Expected Company
delivery

NEW BUILDINGS
Hull 2307 - High Seas MR 52,000 2012 d'Amico Tankers Limited

Hull 2308 - High Tide MR 52,000 2012 d'Amico Tankers Limited

d'Amico International Shipping detiene owns 50% of GLENDA International Shipping Limited

d'Amico Tankers Limited owns 51% of DM Shipping Limited. Vessels are chartered to d'Amico Tankers Limited

Bare boat contract

3

4

5
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Financial Statements of the Main Subsidiaries
d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. - Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31
December 2011
Income statement

Statement of comprehensive income

(Euro) 2011 2010

Revenue 74,511,978 97,525,609

Direct voyage costs (10,690,044) (6,312,679)

TIME CHARTER EQUIVALENT EARNINGS 63,821,934 91,212,930
Time charter hire costs (14,304,115) (12,222,545)

Other direct operating costs (22,754,119) (22,103,620)

General and administrative costs (3,824,168) (3,738,185)

Other operating income 612,036 145,466

Capital gains on sale of vessels 0 6,123,299

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT 23,551,568 59,417,345
Depreciation and amortization (10,599,096) (8,299,470)

OPERATING PROFIT 12,952,472 51,117,875
Financial income 3,175,668 6,705,690

Financial charges (6,103,714) (7,452,740)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 10,024,426 50,370,825
Income taxes (102,202) (603,100)

NET PROFIT 9,922,224 49,767,725

(Euro) 2011 2010

Net profit 9,922,224 49,767,725

Effective part of gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges (658,525) 195,185

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 9,263,699 49,962,910
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Statement of financial position

(Euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Tangible assets 151,349,131 118,839,461

Long-term investments 3,950 383,639

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 151,353,081 119,223,100

Current assets

Inventories 2,349,618 2,091,451

Short-term receivables and other current assets 7,397,393 10,822,301

Other current financial assets - -

Cash and cash equivalents 13,911,571 72,756,189

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 23,658,582 85,669,941

TOTAL ASSETS 175,011,663 204,893,041

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 15,000,000 15,000,000

Reserves 88,373,952 84,049,339

Net profit 9,922,224 49,767,724

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 113,296,176 148,817,064

Non-current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 44,017,621 38,813,633

Post-employment benefits 356,093 336,359

Other non-current financial liabilities 2,390,350 1,245,601

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 46,764,064 40,395,593

Current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 4,951,866 4,161,778

Short-term payables and other current liabilities 9,268,062 10,323,485

Other current financial liabilities 519,502 409,176

Taxes payable 211,993 785,946

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,951,423 15,680,385

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 175,011,663 204,893,041
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d’Amico International S.A. - Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31
December 2011
Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(USD ) 2011 2010

Revenue 757,122,619 806,434,874

Direct costs (231,748,241) (214,577,929)

NET OPERATING REVENUE 525,374,378 591,856,945
Hire costs (295,357,649) (312,851,988)

Other direct operating costs (90,131,646) (81,876,159)

General and administrative costs (60,903,940) (55,039,420)

Capital gains on the sale of vessels 20,902,076 8,663,497

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT 99,883,319 150,752,875
Depreciation and amortization (53,503,356) (47,639,053)

OPERATING PROFIT 46,398,963 103,113,822
Net financial income / (charges) (25,612,493) (14,460,668)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 20,767,470 88,653,154
Income taxes (6,046,616) 4,150,061

NET PROFIT 14,720,854 92,803,215

Attributable to:

Parent Company 21,748,729 100,760,233

Minorities (7,027,875) (7,957,021)

NET PROFIT 14,720,854 92,803,215

(USD ) 2011 2010

NET PROFIT 14,720,854 92,803,215
Fair value changes in cash flow hedge accounting 394,682 (6,207,921)

Translation differences on foreign operations 840 (18,873,793)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 15,955,536 67,721,501

Parent Company 21,829,810 75,530,458

Minorities (5,874,274) (7,808,957)

NET PROFIT 15,955,536 67,721,501
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(USD ) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Tangible assets 863,929,222 819,160,058

Intangible assets 784,941 982,027

Non-current financial assets 1,397,168 2,218,336

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 866,111,331 822,360,421

Current assets

Inventories 37,759,663 31,244,808

Short-term receivables and other current assets 201,376,527 177,379,798

Taxes receivable - 126,789

Other current financial assets 198,929,465 199,411,928

Derivative instruments 8,759,591 2,372,066

Cash and cash equivalents 177,477,268 196,210,047

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 624,302,514 606,745,436

TOTAL ASSETS 1,490,413,845 1,429,105,857

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 4,110,600 4,110,600

Retained earnings 770,416,660 774,827,931

Other reserves (8,632,678) (7,873,759)

765,894,582 771,064,772
Capital and reserves - Minorities 101,144,917 108,853,423

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 867,039,499 879,918,195

Non-current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 391,493,368 338,984,934

Deferred tax liabilities - 134,944

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 391,493,368 339,119,878

Current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 36,135,681 15,779,049

Short-term payables and other current liabilities 179,531,218 175,003,209

Derivative instruments 14,557,770 18,541,709

Taxes payable 1,656,309 743,817

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 231,880,978 210,067,784

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,490,413,845 1,429,105,857
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Compagnia Generale Telemar S.p.A. - IFRS-compliant consolidated Financial
Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2011
Consolidated income statement

(Euro) 2011 2010

Revenue 114,504,705 113,102,481

Direct operating costs (21,487,340) (25,847,979)

General and administrative costs (83,675,885) (78,950,546)

Other operating income 0 3,050,963

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT 9,341,480 11,354,919
Depreciation and amortization (1,290,256) (1,247,829)

OPERATING PROFIT 8,051,224 10,107,090
Financial income 1,206,911 136,951

Financial charges (1,092,221) (449,683)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 8,165,914 9,794,358
Income taxes (2,361,090) (2,828,125)

NET PROFIT 5,804,824 6,966,233

Attributable to:

Parent Company 5,313,302 6,115,510

Minorities 491,522 850,723

NET PROFIT 5,804,824 6,966,233
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(Euro) As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Intangible assets 2,125,929 2,182,886

Tangible assets 9,562,303 10,047,572

Long-term investments 207,026 209,835

Other non-current financial assets 0 0

Other non-current assets 36,550 38,861

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 11,931,808 12,479,154

Current assets

Inventories 5,988,294 6,946,662

Short-term receivables and other current assets 33,625,312 28,648,942

Other current financial assets 594,914 975,102

Cash and cash equivalents 13,103,086 14,797,677

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 53,311,606 51,368,383

TOTAL ASSETS 65,243,414 63,847,537

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 6,500,644 6,630,655

Reserves 22,060,736 19,802,081

Net profit 5,313,302 6,115,509

33,874,682 32,548,245

Capital and reserves - Minorities 611,851 664,553

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 34,486,533 33,212,798

Non-current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 1,877,892 2,029,758

Post-employment benefits 2,866,991 2,822,881

Other non-current financial liabilities 81,940 123,713

Deferred taxes 839,616 881,638

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,666,439 5,857,990

Current liabilities

Banks and other lenders 413,831 483,076

Short-term payables and other current liabilities 24,185,369 23,972,493

Taxes payable 491,242 321,180

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 25,090,442 24,776,749

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 65,243,414 63,847,537
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d'Amico Società di Navigazione SpA
Board of Statutory Auditors' Report on the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Shareholders,

The consolidated financial statements of d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A. for the year ended 31 December
2011 show a net profit of Euro 21,985,000 (with Euro 24,265,000 attributable to the Group). All associated figures were
provided to us within the legally allotted terms, along with the directors’ report on operations. The foregoing financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the international accounting principles issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the European Union.

We conducted our review according to the principles enunciated by the Italian Council of Chartered Accountants
and Accounting Experts. In accordance with those principles, we consistently referred to the provisions of law that
govern the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements of subsidiaries were subject to legal control by the individual control bodies to which this
task has been assigned for each company by law. Information was obtained concerning the reports drafted by
individual boards of statutory auditors. No direct control was exercised over such financial statements and companies
as they were beyond our purview. Our opinion is therefore limited to the propriety of consolidation.

The consolidation principles adopted are compliant with the provisions of IAS 27, and specifically:

the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements coincides with the balance sheet date of the parent
company, and the consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements of the companies
within the scope of consolidation for the year ended on that date;

in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, elements of assets and liabilities have been
incorporated in their entirety, whereas accounts payable and receivable and revenues and expenses originating
in transactions between companies within the scope of consolidation have been eliminated; and

the consolidated report on operations is consistent with the facts and figures presented in the consolidated
financial statements and provides ample disclosure of the group’s financial performance and financial position.

The independent auditors have issued a report according to which the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2011 have been prepared in a clear manner and provide a true and fair representation of the
d’Amico Group's financial performance and financial position.

On the basis of the controls performed, the Board of Statutory Auditors believes that the consolidated report on
operations is accurate and consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Statutory Auditors

-

-

-
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d'Amico Società di Navigazione SpA
Board of Statutory Auditors’ Report on the Financial
Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2011

Shareholders,

The Board of Statutory Auditors has always regularly supervised compliance with the law and the articles of
association, observance of the principles of sound management, the adequacy of the administrative, organizational
and accounting system adopted by the company and that system's actual functioning.

In accordance with the spirit of the law, and in application of the obligation to supervise compliance with statutes
and the articles of association, the Board of Statutory Auditors retains responsibility for supervising the separate
financial statements, although it is not responsible for accounting control, without such retention of responsibility
resulting in any overlap between its actions and those of the entity responsible for accounting control. In further
detail, the Board of Statutory Auditors retains the obligation to supervise the directors’ compliance with procedural
provisions governing the preparation, filing and publication of the financial statements. In addition, while not
required to conduct detailed controls on the merits with respect to the content of the financial statements, the
Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for supervising the presentation adopted for the financial statements,
including on the basis of information obtained from the independent auditors.

With respect to the foregoing, we may assure you that:

the form and content of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 are generally compliant
with the law, and proper IFRS accounting principles, which the company has voluntarily adopted since 2010, have
been applied;

the financial statements are consistent with the facts and information of which the Board of Statutory Auditors
has become aware through its participation in the sessions of company bodies;

the provisions of Article 2429, paragraphs 1, 3 and 4, and Article 2435 of the Italian Civil Code concerning the
filing and publication of the financial statements have been observed; review of such compliance is instrumental
to both the exercise of supervision over the administration of the company and the fulfilment of the duties of
the directors and the independent auditors with respect to the financial statements;

the formalities required by Article 2426, paragraphs 5 and 6, of the Italian Civil Code, have been discharged.

As in previous years, during the year ended 31 December 2011 our work was inspired by the code of conduct
recommended by Italy’s National Council of Chartered Accountants and Accounting Experts.

We held meetings (11.4.2011 and 27.3.2012) with the entity responsible for accounting control, and no material
data or information came to light. In addition, we met with the supervisory board established pursuant to Legislative
Decree No. 231/2001.

By obtaining information from the heads of the various functions and reviewing the documentation provided to us,
we assessed and supervised the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system and the system’s reliability
in properly representing operating events. In this regard, there are no particular situations deserving of mention.

During the year, the Board of Statutory Auditors did not receive any complaints pursuant to Article 2408 of the
Italian Civil Code or petitions of any sort.

During the year, the Board of Statutory Auditors did not issue opinions pursuant to the law, except for those
pertinent, necessary opinions requested from time to time during sessions of the Board of Directors’ and/or
Shareholders’ Meeting.

-

-

-

-
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The financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2011 submitted for your approval are compliant with
the law and international principles (IAS, IFRS, IFRIC and SIC) in terms of preparation and presentation, as is the
report on operations. In this regard, we have no particular remarks to relate. The following are key figures drawn from
the financial statements:

On the basis of the foregoing, and having regard to the independent auditors’ report, the Board of Statutory Auditors
is not aware of any impediment to the approval of the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2011,
as drafted, nor to the proposed allocation of the net profit for the year approved by your Board of Directors.

The Board of Statutory Auditors

Annexes

Euro 2011

Revenue 11,621,818

Costs (17,415,882)

OPERATING PROFIT (5,794,064)
Financial income / (charges) 70,734,755

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 64,940,691
Income taxes (240,617)

NET PROFIT 64,700,074

Euro As at 31 December 2011

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 247,367,335
CURRENT ASSETS 24,499,741
TOTAL ASSETS 271,867,076
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 25,000,000

Reserves 107,450,961

Net profit 64,700,074

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 197,151,035
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 38,368,366
CURRENT LIABILITIES 36,347,675
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 271,867,076
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Palermo d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.
Ph: +39 091 625 9822
Fax: +39 091 848 6027
e-mail: damico.pa@damicoship.com

d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A. 
Ph: +39 091 625 9822
Fax: +39 091 848 6027
e-mail: damico.pa@damicoship.com

REGISTERED OFFICE
Via Siracusa, 27
90141 - Palermo
Italy

Rome d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.
Ph: +39 06 845 611
Fax: +39 06 9896 8082
e-mail: info@damicoship.com

d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A.
Ph: +39 06 845 611
Fax: +39 06 9896 8082
e-mail: info@damicoship.com

HEAD OFFICE
Corso d’Italia, 35/B
00198 - Rome
Italy

Genoa d’Amico Società di Navigazione S.p.A.
Ph: +39 010 449 5901
Fax: +39 010 986 8037
e-mail: damico.ge@damicoship.com

d’Amico Shipping Italia S.p.A.
Ph: +39 010 449 5901
Fax: +39 010 986 8037
e-mail: damico.ge@damicoship.com

OPERATIONS
Via de Marini 53
Torre Shipping building A - 14th Floor
16149 - Genoa
Italy

Sirius Ship Management S.r.l
Ph: +39 010 648 941
Fax: +39 010 648 9442
e-mail: info@siriusship.com

OPERATIONS
Via de Marini 53
Torre Shipping building B  
16149 - Genoa
Italy

Luxembourg d’Amico International S.A.
Ph: +352 26 63 24
Fax: +352 26 26 25 49
e-mail: damico.lu@damicoship.com

d’Amico International Shipping S.A.
Ph: +352 26 26 29 29
Fax: +352 26 26 24 54
e-mail: dtllu@damicointernationalshipping.com

25/C, Boulevard Royal - 11th Floor
L-2449 - Luxembourg
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Monte-Carlo d’Amico Tankers Monaco S.A.M.
Ph: +377 9310 5656
Fax: +377 9310 5607
e-mail: secretary.mc@damicoship.com

Cogema S.A.M.
Ph: +377 9310 5270
Fax: +377 9325 4162
e-mail: secretary.mc@damicoship.com

20, Boulevard de Suisse
MC 98000 - Monte Carlo
Principality of Monaco

Stamford d'Amico Shipping USA Limited 
Ph: +1 203 274 8484

One Stamford Plaza
263 Tresser Boulevard - 9th Floor
06901 Stamford - Connecticut 
USA

Dublin d’Amico Tankers Limited
Ph: +353 1 676 1840
Fax: +353 1 677 0231 (Commercial)
Fax: +353 1 677 0232 (Accounts)
e-mail: dtlie@damicoship.com

d’Amico Dry Limited
Ph: +353 1 674 0100
Fax: +353 1 677 0212
e-mail: dry.ie@damicoship.com

d’Amico Finance Limited
Ph: +353 1 674 0100
Fax: +353 1 677 0212
e-mail: finance.ie@damicoship.com

The Anchorage
17 - 19, Sir John Rogerson’s Quay
Dublin 2
Ireland

Singapore d’Amico Shipping Singapore Pte Ltd.
Ph: +65 6854 7360 
Fax: +65 6854 7369
e-mail: damico.sg@damicoship.com

d’Amico Tankers Singapore Pte Ltd.
Ph: +65 6586 0860
Fax: +65 6586 0879
e-mail: dtlsg@damicoship.com

6 Battery Road #34-02
049909 - Singapore
Singapore

Ishima Pte Ltd.
Ph: +65 6586 0880
Fax: +65 6586 0899

6 Battery Road, #34-01
049909 - Singapore
Singapore

London d’Amico Tankers UK Limited
Ph: +44 20 7340 2000 
Fax: +44 20 7340 2001
e-mail: dtluk@damicoship.com

d’Amico Shipping UK Limited
Ph: +44 20 7340 2000 
Fax: +44 20 7340 2001
e-mail: sandp.ldn@damicoship.com

2, Queen Anne’s Gate Buildings
Dartmouth Street
SW 1H 9BP - London
United Kingdom

Mumbai d'Amico Ship Ishima India Pvt. Ltd.
Ph: +91 22 4037 2222
Fax: +91 22 2823 4987
e-mail: mumbai@damicoishima.com

202/203 City Point
J.B. Nagar, Andheri Kurla Road
400 059 - Andheri (E)
State of Maharashtra - Mumbai
India

Vancouver ACGI Shipping Inc.
Ph: +1 604 891 7447
Fax: +1 604 891 7377
e-mail: vancouver@acgishipping.com 

HEADQUARTERS
710-900, West Hastings Street - V6C 1E5
British Colombia - Vancouver
Canada

Casablanca Damighreb S.à.r.l.
Ph: +212 522 467 900
Fax: +212 522 467 997
e-mail: info@damighreb.com

43, Boulevard d'Anfa - 4th Floor
20070 Casablanca
Morocco
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